Intracellular Ca²⁺- and Mn²⁺-Transport ATPases

Peter Vangheluwe,^{†,§} M. Rosario Sepúlveda,^{†,§} Ludwig Missiaen,[‡] Luc Raeymaekers,[†] Frank Wuytack,^{*,†} and Jo Vanoevelen[†]

Laboratory of Ca²⁺-transport ATPases and Laboratory of Molecular and Cellular Signaling, Department of Molecular Cell Biology, Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

Received January 14, 2009

Contents

1. Introduction	4733
2. Phylogenetic Relationship between SERCAs and SPCAs	4733
3. SERCAs	4736
3.1. Genes encoding SERCAs	4737
3.2. Structure of SERCAs	4737
3.2.1. Architecture of the Pump	4737
3.2.2. Structural Comparison with Other P-type ATPases	4738
3.2.3. Ion-Transport Mechanism	4738
3.3. SERCA Proteins	4741
3.3.1. SERCA1	4741
3.3.2. SERCA2	4741
3.3.3. SERCA3	4743
3.4. SERCA Inhibitors	4744
3.4.1. Thapsigargin	4744
3.4.2. Cyclopiazonic Acid and 2,5-Di- <i>tert</i> -butyl Hydroquinone	4744
3.4.3. Artemisinin	4744
4. SPCAs	4744
4.1. Genes Encoding SPCAs	4744
4.2. Structure of SPCAs	4745
4.2.1. Mn^{2+} and Ca^{2+} Binding	4745
4.2.2. Countertransport	4745
4.3. Expression of SPCAs	4746
4.3.1. SPCA1	4746
4.3.2. SPCA2	4746
4.4. Kinetic Properties of SPCAs	4746
4.5. SPCA Inhibitors	4747
4.6. Function of SPCAs	4747
4.6.1. pmr1 Mutants in Yeast	4747
4.6.2. RNA Interference	4747
4.6.3. SPCA1 Mouse Models	4748
 Other Ca²⁺- and Mn²⁺-Transporting P-type ATPases 	4748
 Role of Ca²⁺ and Mn²⁺ in the ER and Golgi Apparatus 	4748
6.1. Protein Glycosylation	4748
6.2. ER-Associated Degradation	4749
6.3. Sulfatation	4750
6.4. Proteolytic Processing	4750

* To whom correspondence should be addressed. Phone: +3216345936. Fax: +3216345991. E-mail: Frank.Wuytack@med.kuleuven.be. [†] Laboratory of Ca²⁺-transport ATPases.

* Laboratory of Molecular and Cellular Signaling.

[§] Both authors contributed equally to this work.

6.5. Trafficking	4750
6.6. Milk Production	4751
6.7. TOR Signaling	4751
6.8. Regulation of Ca ²⁺ -Transport Proteins	4751
7. Mn ²⁺ Toxicity	4752
7.1. Mn ²⁺ Toxicity in the Brain	4752
7.2. SERCAs and SPCAs in the Brain	4753
7.2.1. Localization	4753
7.2.2. Function	4753
Box 1. Genetic Diseases Involving SERCAs and SPCA	4754
8. Conclusions	4754
9. Acknowledgments	4754
10. References	4754

1. Introduction

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and the Golgi apparatus are Ca²⁺-containing intracellular organelles with a major role in intracellular Ca2+ homeostasis. Their Ca2+ can be released into the cytosol, from where it controls a range of physiological processes depending on the subcellular localization, the amplitude, and the frequency of the cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$ rise.¹ The ER and the Golgi apparatus must at the same time keep their luminal [Ca²⁺] sufficiently high, since this ion is indispensable for the normal function of these compartments. Lipid membranes in cells form low-permeable barriers that limit the free exchange of ions and polar solutes. They are therefore embedded with a wide variety of proteins mediating the transport of ions and nutrients needed to sustain life. Ca^{2+} is taken up in the lumen via sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPases (SERCA) and secretory-pathway Ca²⁺-AT-Pases (SPCA). The latter pumps also provide the Golgi lumen with Mn²⁺ needed for some biochemical reactions.

This review will first focus on the eukaryotic Ca²⁺-ATPases of the ER and on the Ca²⁺,Mn²⁺-ATPases of the Golgi apparatus. They both belong to the P_{2A} branch of the P-type-ATPase superfamily, which separated already in prokaryotes from the P_{2B} class that includes the plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPases (PMCA). We will then review the role of Ca²⁺ and Mn²⁺ in the lumen of the intracellular stores and finally focus on Mn²⁺ toxicity.

2. Phylogenetic Relationship between SERCAs and SPCAs

The P-type ATPases transport ions or molecules across biological membranes using the energy of ATP hydrolysis.² The designation P-type comes from the mechanism by which

© 2009 American Chemical Society 10.1021/cr900013m CCC: \$71.50 Published on Web 08/14/2009



Peter Vangheluwe (P.V.) studied Bioengineering and Molecular Cell Biology at the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven (Leuven, Belgium). In 2005, he obtained his Ph.D. in Medical Sciences at the Laboratory of Ca²⁺-transport ATPases of the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, where he is now working as a postdoctoral researcher. He investigates the physiological role of SERCAs in the cardiovascular system and the structure-function relationship of SERCA2 variants.



Ludwig Missiaen (L.M.) became medical doctor in 1984 at the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven. In 1988 he obtained his Ph.D. in Medical Sciences at the Laboratory of Physiology of the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven. From 1989 to 1991, he worked as a postdoctoral researcher at the A.FRC Laboratory of Molecular Signalling (c.o. Dr. M. J. Berridge) in Cambridge (U.K.). He is now full professor in physiology at the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven. Here he is involved in the study of SPCAs.



M. Rosario Sepúlveda (M.R.S.) studied Biology at the University of Extremadura (Badajoz, Spain). In 2006 she obtained her Ph.D. in Biology at the Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology at the same university, working on Ca^{2+} pumps in the nervous system. Since 2007 she is a postdoctoral researcher in the Laboratory of Ca^{2+} -transport ATPases at the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven. Here she is involved in the study of SPCAs in neural differentiation and manganese toxicity.

the terminal phosphate of ATP is transiently transferred to a highly conserved aspartate residue in the active site, resulting in reversible conformational changes. Classifications of the P-type ATPases based either on sequence similarity or on substrate specificity largely overlap and fall into five classes and subclasses. The class formed by the Ca²⁺ pumps is designated P₂ and is represented in vertebrate animals by the SERCA, SPCA, and PMCA families. In higher vertebrates, the SERCAs are encoded by three genes (ATP2AI-3), the SPCAs are encoded by two genes (ATP2BI-4).³ Ca²⁺ pumps related to each of these gene families are found in most eukaryote species.

Among the Ca²⁺-transport ATPases, only the SERCA-type pumps are characterized by two high-affinity Ca²⁺-transport sites, designated site I and site II. Consequently, they can transport two Ca²⁺ ions per ATP hydrolyzed, whereas the PMCA-type pumps and the SPCAs bind only one Ca²⁺ ion (binding to a site corresponding to site II of SERCA). Despite this fundamental difference between SERCAs and SPCAs, their overall sequence similarity clearly demonstrates a *closer* relation than between either of them and the PMCAs.



Luc Raeymaekers (L.R.) studied Biology at the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven. In 1977 he obtained his Ph.D. at the Laboratory of Physiology of the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven. He is professor in physiology at the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven. His research focuses on the functional role of SERCA and SPCA transport ATPases.



Frank Wuytack (F.W.) graduated as a biologist at the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven in 1969. In 1974 he obtained his Ph.D. in Biological Sciences at the Laboratory of Physiology of the Faculty of Medicine at the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, where he is now full professor of physiology at the Department of Molecular Cell Biology and head of the Laboratory of Ca²⁺-transport ATPases.

Therefore, SERCAs and SPCAs are clustered together in a separate subfamily of the P-type ATPases, the P_{2A} branch, whereas the PMCAs fall into the P_{2B} subfamily.⁴ The two



Jo Vanoevelen (J.V.) studied Biology at the UHasselt (Hasselt, Belgium) and the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven. In 2004 he obtained his Ph.D. in Medical Sciences at the Laboratory of Ca²⁺-transport ATPases of the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven. Since then he is working as a postdoctoral researcher in the same laboratory. Here he is involved in the study of SPCAs and the establishment of the zebrafish as a model system to study these Ca²⁺/Mn²⁺-ATPases.

Ca²⁺-binding sites of SERCAs are formed by 10 amino-acid residues, situated in four of the total 10 membrane-spanning helices: M4, M5, M6, and M8. The Ca²⁺ ions are coordinated either to the side chains or to backbone oxygen atoms (see below). Because of the greater complexity of a two-Ca²⁺ transporter, it appears reasonable that SERCA-type pumps evolved from a simpler single-site ancestor. The most likely picture that then emerges is one where SERCA-type pumps evolved from SPCA-type pumps, after an earlier branching off from a line that gave rise to the extant P_{2B} (PMCA) ATPases. These evolutionary steps must have pre-dated the emergence of the eukaryotes since all amino acids involved in Ca²⁺ coordination in SERCAs are conserved in some bacterial species, as can be seen from the amino-acid alignment of parts of the Ca²⁺-binding transmembrane segments (Figure 1 top). All 10 residues are conserved, e.g., in Legionella pneumophila and Haloarcula marismortui, while in other species, the Glu in M8 that forms part of site I is replaced by a Gln, e.g., in *Bacillus subtilis*. Since this SERCA-type Ca²⁺-coordinating configuration is found in both the oldest branches of life, Eubacteria and Archaea, the branching of SERCAs from SPCAs must have occurred already in very early stages of evolution. Indeed, SPCAlike as well as PMCA-like sequences can be found in both Eubacteria and Archaea, as shown by the family tree in Figure 2 and more convincingly by the alignment of core Ca²⁺-binding regions that allow the identification of short signature sites (Figure 1). Moreover, within the Eubacteria, sequences belonging to each of the Ca²⁺-pump branches are found in diverse classes of organisms. The occurrence of both SERCA-type and SPCA-type sequences in the Archaea has been mentioned by De Hertogh et al.⁵

The sequences aligned in Figure 1 fall into three groups, from top to bottom, SERCA-like, SPCA-like, and PMCA-like. On top of each group, the eukaryote consensus sequences are shown. The assignment of the bacterial sequences to one of the three groups is mainly based on the highlighted residues, which are either specific for one group or conserved between SERCAs and SPCAs or between SPCAs and PMCAs. Some of the amino acids highlighted in Figure 1 are not directly involved in Ca²⁺ coordination. However, the significance of these residues is underscored by their conservation not only between paralogous and

homologous genes in higher eukaryotes but also in many prokaryote sequences. These residues may therefore contribute in an essential way to the structure of the Ca²⁺-binding pocket. Indeed, the affinity and the ion specificity of the binding sites is not only determined by the nature of the ioncoordinating residues but also by their spatial constellation, and thus by the global structure of the binding region. This explains why, in the Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase, a P-type ATPase of the P_{2C} class, with its very different ion specificity and stoichiometry, there is little sequence conservation in the region surrounding the ion-binding sites, while 7 out of the 10 ion-coordinating residues of SERCA are identical. The importance of noncoordinating amino acids is further underscored by mutations and structural analysis.^{6,7} Together with the site II Ca²⁺-coordinating amino acids, the residues highlighted in M5-M6 of SPCA and PMCA could have been conserved from the structure of the putative ancestral ion-binding region.

The family relationships derived from the comparison of the Ca²⁺-binding sites as depicted in Figure 1 are generally confirmed by the alignment of the entire ATPase chain, as shown in Figure 2. Some bacterial sequences occupy an intermediate position between PMCAs and SPCAs, e.g., the Ca²⁺ pump of *Clostridium*, or between SPCAs and SERCAs, e.g., that of the *Haloarcula* pump. The inclusion of *Clostridium* in the SPCA cluster and of *Haloarcula* in the SERCA group is therefore based on the signature sequences indicated in Figure 1.

It should be kept in mind, however, that the validity of this picture of very early diversification depends on the assumption that prokaryote species did not at later stages acquire Ca^{2+} -pump genes from distant taxa by horizontal transfer.

At present little is known on the role of Ca^{2+} in prokaryotes. Like the eukaryotes, bacteria also maintain a cytosolic [Ca²⁺] in the submicromolar range, probably because higher concentrations are not compatible with essential life processes. The steep inwardly directed transmembrane Ca²⁺ gradient is maintained by Ca²⁺/H⁺-exchangers, Na^+/Ca^{2+} -exchangers, and possibly by the P-type Ca^{2+} pumps described above. Whether the cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$ is dynamically regulated to serve signaling functions as in eukaryotes is less clear.^{8,9} Ca²⁺ ions may be involved in the maintenance of cell structure and motility and in differentiation processes. A clear example of the latter is sporulation, which occurs in specific classes of bacteria. Spores accumulate large amounts of Ca²⁺. In B. subtilis, a SERCAtype Ca²⁺ pump is expressed during sporulation. Its knockdown affects the quality of the spores, but apparently it is not required for spore formation.¹⁰ It is, thus, not obvious why P-type Ca²⁺ pumps are present in some bacterial species and not in others, assuming in the first place that the proteins encoded by all these genomic sequences are actually expressed in a functional form. It is, therefore, even more difficult to speculate on possible functional reasons for the evolution and the specific expression of one or more of the three different types of Ca²⁺ pumps in prokaryotes.

The protist phylum Apicomplexa comprises a large group of eukaryotes, which branched off from other eukaryotes at an early point and which is related to ciliates and dinoflagellates. This phylum includes a number of human and animal parasites. Recent whole-genome analyses of representatives of the phylum Apicomplexa including *Plasmodium*, *Cryptosporidium*, and *Toxoplasma*, all of which are human parasites,

			M4		M5		\mathbf{M}	6		\mathbf{M}	[8
								Ι			
TYPE P2A (SERCA-like)		III	ппп		II	1	II	III		I	
SERCA consensus	animals	302 LAVA	AIPEGLP/	759 QFIRY	LISSNVG	VVSI/	790 VQLLWVNLV	TDGLP	ATALGF/	⁰³ VLVTI	MLNAIN
ECA consensus	plants	LAVA	AIPEGLP/	/AFIRY	MISSNIG <mark>H</mark>	VASI/	/VQLLWVNLV	TDGPP	ATALGF/	/VLVAI <mark>e</mark>	MFNSLN
Neurospora crassa (1)	fungi	LGVA	AIPEGLA/	/QFIR <mark>Y</mark>	LISSNIG <mark>E</mark>	VVSI/	/VQLLWVNLV	T DGLP	ATALSF/	/ILVVI	MFNAMN
Bacillus subtilis (2)	Gram pos.	LAVA	AIPEGLP/	/KFIR <mark>Y</mark>	LASNVG	ILVM/	/IQILWVNLV	TDGLP	AMALGM/	/TLVLAÇ	QLIHVFD
Synechococcus elongatus (3)	Cyanobact.	LAVA	AIPEGLP/	/KFIK <mark>Y</mark>	ILGSNIG	LLTI/	/LQILWMNLV	T D <mark>GIP</mark>	ALALAV/	/TLCLAC	MGHAIA
Legionella pneumophila (4)	Proteobact.	LAVA	AIPEGLP/	/KTLA <mark>Y</mark>	LLAGNSG <mark>E</mark>	LLVV/	/IQLLWINLV	T DGLP	AIGLAT/	/VLVTA	LLWAFG
Haloarcula marismortui (5)	Archaea	LAVA	AVPEGLP/	/KFVG <mark>Y</mark>	LSANVA	VAIV/	/VQLLWINLL	TDGLP	ALALGA/	/GFVFL	FEKLYV
TYPE P2A (SPCA-like)											
SPCA consensus	animals	LAVA	AIPEGLP/	/NFVR <mark>f</mark>	QLSTSVA <mark>Z</mark>	LSLI/	/MQILWINII	MDGPP	AQSLGV/	/CFVLFE	MWNALS
Pmr1p S. cerevisiae (6)	fungi	LAVA	AIPEGLP/	/NFLT <mark>F</mark>	<mark>q</mark> lstsva <mark>f</mark>	LSLV/	/MQILWINIL	MD <mark>GPP</mark>	AQSLGV/	/CFVFFE	OMFNALA
Azoarcus sp. (7)	Proteobact.	LAVA	AIPEGLP/	/KFVR <mark>F</mark>	QLSTNIG <mark>A</mark>	LILTV/	/IQLLWINII	MD <mark>GPP</mark>	AMTLGI/	/TFVLFQ	PERNVEN
Clostridium novyi (8)	Gram pos.	LIVA	AVPEGLP/	/RFIQ <mark>F</mark>	QITVNIV <mark>A</mark>	FLTA/	/IQLLWVNII	MD <mark>GPP</mark>	ALSLGL/	/LFAFNA	ALFNAFN
Bifidobacterium longum (9)	Actinobact.	LIVA	AVPEGLP/	/RFIQ <mark>F</mark>	QLTVNLS <mark>S</mark>	VVVVV	/LQLLWVNII	MD <mark>GPP</mark>	ALTLGM/	/LFVVFQ	DLFNAFN
Methanobrevibacter smithii (10)	Archaea	LAVA	AIPEGLP/	/RFVK <mark>F</mark>	QVSTNVG <mark>A</mark>	LTI/	/VQLLWINIV	MD <mark>GPP</mark>	AQTLGM/	/LFVMYQ	QLFNAYN
TYPE P _{2B}											
PMCA consensus	animals	VLV	AVPEGLP/	/KFLQF	QLTVNVV <mark>7</mark>	VIVA/	/VQMLWVNLI	MDTFA	SLALAT/	/TFVMMC	LFNEIN
ACA consensus	plants	IVV	AVPEGLP/	/KFIQF	QLTVNVA <mark></mark>	LIIN/	/VQLLWVNLI	MD <mark>TLG</mark>	ALALAT/	/IFVFCC	VFNE FN
Pmc1p S. cerevisiae (11)	fungi	VIV	AVPEGLP/	/KFIQ <mark>F</mark>	QLIVNIT <mark>A</mark>	VILT/	/VQLLWINLI	MD <mark>TLA</mark>	ALALAT/	/TFVWLQ	PFTMLV
Synechococcus sp. (12)	Cyanobact.	IIV	AVPEGLA/	/KFLL <mark>F</mark>	QLTINVV <mark>A</mark>	LGTA/	/TQMLWVNLI	MD <mark>TFA</mark>	ALALAT/	/IFVFLQ	QLWNLFN
Akkermansia muciniphila (13)	Chlamydiae	VIV	TVPEGLP/	/RFIV <mark>F</mark>	QMTINVA <mark>A</mark>	CLIV/	/TQMLWVNLI	MD <mark>TFA</mark>	ALALAS/	/IFVLLQ	FWNMFN
Porphyromonas gingivalis (14)	Bacteroidetes	VIV	AVPEGLP/	/RFIL <mark>F</mark>	QMTINVV <mark>A</mark>	CIIV/	/TQMLWVNLI	MD <mark>TFA</mark>	ALSLAS/	/IFVFLQ	FWNMFN
Methanospirillum hungatei (15)	Archaea	IIV	SVPEGLP/	/RFLI <mark>F</mark>	QLTINIS <mark>A</mark>	AILT/	/IQLLWINII	MD <mark>SLA</mark>	ALALCS/	/GFVIAQ	VWNGFN

Figure 1. Sequence alignment of part of the transmembrane regions of Ca^{2+} pumps from higher eukaryotes and bacterial species. Part of transmembrane regions M4, M5, M6, and M8 of Ca^{2+} pumps from higher eukaryotes are aligned with bacterial sequences selected from those that are most similar to the corresponding eukaryote domains. Species were further selected to represent as many as possible of the major taxa. Note that SPCAs are absent in plants. Residues contributing to the formation of Ca^{2+} -binding sites I and II are indicated on top. The Asp in M6 contributes to both sites. The numbers in superscript in the SERCA sequence correspond to the amino-acid numbering in rabbit SERCA1. The type-2A group is split in two parts: SERCA-like and SPCA-like sequences. Residues that are fully or very highly conserved within the eukaryote classes based mainly on the yellow-highlighted residues. The corresponding residues in SERCA may or may not directly contribute to Ca^{2+} coordination. Amino acids unique to one group are indicated in red. The highlighted serine in M5 of the SPCA-like sequences is unique to eukaryotes. Accession numbers of the species-specific sequences: (1) CAB65295; (2) CAB13439; (3) YP_400099; (4) AAU27103; (5) AAV44847; (6) NP_011348; (7) CAI08472; (8) ABK62185; (9) AAN24843; (10) ABQ87100; (11) P38929; (12) ACB00092; (13) ACD04061; (14) AAQ66072; (15) ABD40112.

indicate the presence in their genomes of two P-type ATPases (PfATPase6 and PfATPase4, both from *Plasmodium falciparum*).¹¹ Apicomplexans show Ca²⁺-signaling pathways often with plant-like characteristics.¹¹

Plants like Arabidopsis thaliana or rice (Oryza sativa) express 4 SERCA-type proteins known as ECA ATPases (ER-type Ca²⁺-ATPase) and 10 ATPases indicated as ACAs (autoinhibited Ca²⁺-ATPase) that are closely related to the mammalian PMCAs.¹² The latter ATPases contain an autoinhibitory domain, whose inhibitory action on the ATPase is relieved upon binding of calmodulin. The plant ACAs differ from the metazoan PMCAs because their calmodulinbinding domain is positioned at the N-terminus and because they are not always found in the plasma membrane.¹³ The plant ECAs¹² can transport both Ca²⁺ or Mn²⁺. Comparison of the protein sequences and the gene's exon/intron layouts shows that, of all four members of the ECA family in plants, ECA3 appears to be the most closely related to the metazoan SERCA ATPases. ECA1, -2, and -4 together form a separate cluster that shows a much less elaborate exon/intron structure with only 7 introns instead of the 33 introns in the ECA3 gene of A. thaliana and O. sativa. The close relationship between ECA3 and the SERCAs is further underscored by the observation that, of the 33 introns in ECA3 and the 20 introns in SERCA (introns in the genes encoding SER-CA1-3 take similar positions, except for the alternatively spliced ones), 8 are found in corresponding positions. Of note, none of the 7 intron positions in ECA1, -2, and -4 coincide with a corresponding position of the 33 ECA3 introns. Although ECA3 is phylogenetically most closely related to the mammalian SERCAs, it is targeted to the Golgi apparatus and not to the ER as the other three ECAs are and it plays a crucial role in Mn^{2+} homeostasis.¹⁴ ECA3 thus appears to be the functional correlate of the mammalian SPCA in plants, which are otherwise lacking direct orthologues to the SPCA subfamily. Interestingly, in maize (Zea mays), a SERCA-type Ca²⁺-ATPase has been found that, like PMCAs, is regulated by calmodulin, with its calmodulinbinding domain located at the C-terminus. This Ca²⁺ pump, named CAP1, is apparently unable to transport Mn^{2+.15} In fungi and invertebrates, in most lower eukaryotes, and in prokaryotes, the three Ca²⁺-pump families (SERCA, PMCA, SPCA) are usually represented by at most a single gene per family. Some fungi, e.g., the extensively studied yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, lack a SERCA orthologue, but most other representatives of the fungi have one.

3. SERCAs

The SERCAs are, together with the SPCAs, responsible for loading the nonmitochondrial intracellular stores with Ca^{2+} . Both pumps belong to the P_{2A}-ATPase phylogenetic subgroup. In humans, 3 genes (*ATP2A1-3*) generate multiple SERCA isoforms (SERCAla,b, SERCA2a-c, and SERCA3a-f) by developmental or tissue-specific alternative splicing.¹⁶ We will first review the structure of the SERCA genes and then discuss the structure of the SERCA protein by focusing on SERCA1a, for which the most information is available. Thereupon we will review the physiological role of the SERCA1, -2, and -3 proteins and end with a discussion of SERCA-specific inhibitors.



Figure 2. Distance tree of the Ca^{2+} pumps represented in Figure 1. The figure was generated by the Phylogeny program (http://www.phylogeny.fr)⁴³⁵ using the "One Click" mode. The alignment was done on the full-length amino-acid sequences. Columns in the alignment containing gaps were skipped from further analysis. Eukaryote sequences are represented by PMCA2 of zebrafish (accession no. EU559282), SPCA of *C. elegans* (CAC19895), and SERCA of *C. elegans* (NP_499385). The indicated grouping of the bacterial sequences corresponds to the classification based on the short signature sequences shown in Figure 1.

3.1. Genes encoding SERCAs

Since the SERCA-type of ATPases found in plants were already addressed above, we will here focus on the metazoan SERCAs. All invertebrates, including Nematostella vectensis, representing the oldest eumetazoan phylum of Cnidaria,¹⁷ and even Trichoplax adhaerens, a very primitive animal belonging to the Placozoa, contain a single SERCA gene in their genome.¹⁸ A notable exception is the parasitic flatworm Schistosoma mansoni that has at least two SERCA genes SMA1 and SMA2.19 As a result of two successive genome duplications, vertebrates typically show 3 SERCA genes. Fish, which witnessed even further genome duplications, have an even larger number of SERCA genes. It is of interest to note that, as discussed earlier,²⁰ the single SERCA gene found in the invertebrate genome is orthologous to the vertebrate SERCA2 gene (ATP2A2 in human) representing the housekeeping gene in the vertebrates. With the exception of the introns in the alternatively spliced part of the gene, the positions of the introns in the mammalian genes encoding the three SERCAs (ATP2A1-3) are conserved, but they differ from the positions in the SPCA1 and PMCA1 genes. The vertebrates seem to have the most elaborate and primitive intron layout. Invertebrates, including the cnidarian N. vectensis, have fewer introns than mammals.¹⁷ The reader is referred to an earlier review for further details on this issue.20

3.2. Structure of SERCAs

The first SERCA1a crystal reported in 2000 by Toyoshima et al.⁷ was a milestone in our current understanding of the working mechanism of P-type ATPases. Today more than

20 crystal structures in nine different states have been reported, approximately covering the entire reaction cycle.^{7,21–30} They serve as a representative model for the ion-transport mechanisms in all P-type ATPases. In fact, more structures of functionally defined conformational states exist for SERCA than for any other membrane protein. The abundant expression of SERCA1a in skeletal muscle facilitated the isolation and purification of the pump. The success of obtaining so many crystals locked in different conformational states should at least partially be attributed to biophysical and biochemical insights in the structure—function relation-ships of SERCAs gathered over the years.³¹

3.2.1. Architecture of the Pump

Active transport by Ca²⁺-ATPases is achieved by alternating the affinity and accessibility of the transmembrane Ca²⁺binding sites using energy from ATP hydrolysis. These Ca²⁺ pumps consist of two major conformations: E1 and E2. During the reaction cycle, considerable conformational changes take place from the Ca²⁺-bound E1 form to the Ca²⁺free E2 form. In the E1 form, the ion-binding sites display a high affinity for cytosolic Ca²⁺, whereas in the E2 form, they show very weak affinity for Ca²⁺ and face the lumen.^{2,32,33} For each two Ca²⁺ ions transported from the cytosol to the lumen of the ER, 2–3 protons are counter transported, making SERCA an electrogenic Ca²⁺/H⁺countertransporter.^{34,35}

The membrane (M) domain consists of 10 transmembrane helices (M1-10) that contain the ion-binding sites (Figure 3). The large cytoplasmic region is composed of an actuator (A), phosphorylation (P), and nucleotide-binding (N) domain,



Figure 3. Architecture of the SERCA Ca^{2+} transporter. (A) Planar model of SERCA1a showing the 10 transmembrane helices (M1-M10) and the principal cytosolic domains. Dark blue: the phosphorylation (P) site (Asp351 in SERCA1a) and the dephosphorylation motif (^{182}TGE in SERCA1a). Yellow circles indicate the presence of a Ca^{2+} -binding residue. (B) 3D structure of SERCA1a in the E1•2Ca²⁺ conformation (PDB entry 1SU4⁷). Indicated are the actuator domain (A, light brown), the phosphorylation domain (P, light blue), the nucleotide-binding domain (N, green), and the transmembrane region (M, gray).

whereas only small loops appear at the luminal side.⁷ The largest cytosolic domain, the N-domain, recruits ATP in its nucleotide-binding pocket.⁷ The N-domain is connected to the P-domain via a very conserved, flexible hinge region made up by two antiparallel peptide strands.^{7,36} The P-domain contains the highly conserved signature sequence DKTGTLT (with D being the phosphorylation site, Asp351 in SERCA1a), which is common for all members of the P-type ATPase family.³⁶ This motif catalyzes the autophosphorylation of the P-domain.³⁷ The A-domain or actuator of the pump is the smallest cytosolic domain.⁷ An actuator is by definition a device for moving or controlling a mechanism or system. As will be discussed in more detail, the control function of the A-domain in the pump is complex and differs, depending on its relative position and rotation, throughout the catalytic cycle. The A-domain contains the conserved signature motif TGE, which controls the dephosphorylation reaction.²⁵

The distance (~50 Å) between the catalytic site (phosphorylation site in the cytosol) and the ion-binding sites in the membrane is long,⁷ yet communication between the cytosolic domains and the transmembrane region is essential for ion transport. Conformational changes in the P-domain transmit to M3–M6, which are associated with the P-domain.²¹ Notably, M5 penetrates deeply into the P-domain and forms the center mast of the enzyme.^{7,21} The cytosolic A-domain is connected to the transmembrane region M1–M3 by flexible linkers. Therefore, rotations of the A-domain will exert strain to the connected helices, affecting their relative position.³⁸ The size of the flexible linkers is critical to ensure proper pump function.^{39,40}

3.2.2. Structural Comparison with Other P-type ATPases

Sequence comparison already indicated that the various members of the P-type-ATPase superfamily are structurally related.³⁶ This assumption is now supported by the comparison of the crystal structures of the plant H⁺-ATPase AHA2 (P₃-ATPase branch⁴¹), the pig Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase (P_{2C}-ATPase branch⁴²), and the rabbit SERCA1a Ca²⁺-ATPase (P_{2B}-ATPase branch⁷). Although these ion pumps share

limited sequence homology (e.g., only 20% between AHA2 and SERCA1a), the overall domain architecture is remarkably similar (Figure 3).⁴³ As for other protein families with low sequence homology, the structures within the P-type-ATPase superfamily are better conserved than the sequences.³⁶ This likely reflects conserved mechanisms of transport in all P-type ATPases. Unexpectedly, most residues at corresponding positions in the ion-binding pockets of the Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase and the ER Ca²⁺-ATPase are identical, regardless of the size and charge of the ions that they transport.⁴² This raises fundamental questions of how the type of ions for transport is selected.⁴³ Only high-resolution structures at <2 Å would provide sufficient detail to visualize subtle differences in the ion-binding pocket accounting for ion selectivity.

3.2.3. Ion-Transport Mechanism

Studying the structures in different conformations led to a fairly detailed picture of the Ca²⁺-pumping process. Four principal structures capture the main events of the reaction cycle and are discussed below and depicted in Figure 4 (based on Toyoshima³⁸). For a more elaborate description, the reader is referred to recent reviews on the structural aspects of ion pumping.^{38,44-46}

 Ca^{2+} Entry and Binding: E2 → E1·2Ca²⁺ (Figure 4 D→A). A putative entry pathway for Ca²⁺ is found close to the cytosolic side of M1 and M2 and is flanked by acidic and hydrophilic residues.^{44,45,47} From there it leads directly to the Ca²⁺-binding sites. The two high-affinity Ca²⁺-binding sites in the transmembrane region of SERCA, sites I and II, are located side by side.⁷ These sites are deeply buried in the interior of the pump's transmembrane region, isolated from the lipid environment. Both sites can form seven oxygen coordinations with the Ca²⁺ ion,⁷ which is characteristic for a high-affinity Ca²⁺-binding site.⁴⁸ Site I is formed by sidechain oxygen atoms of residues on M5, M6, and M8 and two water molecules (Figures 1 and 5C). The partially unwound M4 and M6 provide all residues for Ca²⁺ binding in site II⁷ (reviewed in ref 49). Only residue Asp800 in M6



Figure 4. Conformational changes of SERCA1a during the catalytic cycle of Ca^{2+} transport. Four principle structures (A–D) depict the main events of Ca^{2+} transport. Green rectangles represent the sequential opening and closure of the cytoplasmic and luminal gates in the transmembrane region. (A) $E1 \cdot 2Ca^{2+}$ (1SU4⁷): Ca^{2+} entry and binding. The cytoplasmic gate is open, allowing the exchange of 2–3 H⁺ for 2 Ca^{2+} ions. The putative ion-entry pathway is marked by the red arrow. (B) $E1 \cdot 2Ca^{2+} \cdot ATP$ (represented by $E1 \cdot 2Ca^{2+} \cdot AIF_4^- \cdot ADP$, 2ZBD²³): phosphorylation and occlusion of the pump. ATP links the N- and P-domains. The pump becomes phosphorylated, locking the access to the Ca^{2+} sites. Note the lifted and kinked M1 helix that closes the entry site. (C) E2-P (represented by $E2 \cdot BeF_4^-$, 3B9B²⁷): Ca^{2+} release, exchange for H⁺. Reorientation of the A-domain opens the luminal exit pathway for Ca^{2+} (indicated by red arrow). The TGE-loop replaces ADP. (D) Ground-state E2 (represented by E2(TG), $2AGV^{21}$): dephosphorylation and occlusion of protons. Red arrows indicate the Ca^{2+} -entry (D and A) and -exit (B and C) pathways. Dashed lines indicate events that need to take place to reach the next step in the cycle. The A-domain is shown in orange, the P-domain in light blue, the N-domain in green, and the M-domain in gray. Ca^{2+} ions are shown as red spheres. D (dark blue) is Asp351, the phosphorylation site; F (dark green) is Phe487 of the ATP-binding site; E (orange) is Glu183 of the dephosphorylation motif. N–P, association of the N- and P-domains; P–A, association of the P- and A-domains (based on ref 38).

contributes to the binding of both Ca^{2+} ions.⁷ The position of the oxygen atoms in site II resembles the structure of an EF-hand motif,³⁸ which is found in many other Ca^{2+} -binding proteins.⁵⁰

The binding of the two Ca^{2+} ions is sequential and cooperative.⁵¹ Ca^{2+} first meets the gating residue Glu309, which is part of site II but is not trapped because site II is not yet properly formed.⁵² Instead, the first Ca^{2+} proceeds to site I, where it fits better. The binding of Ca^{2+} to Asp800 in site I induces a slight rotation of M6.^{21,38} This will increase the Ca²⁺ affinity of binding site II,^{48,53} which now can bind the second Ca²⁺. Although Glu309 will capture the second Ca²⁺ ion in site II, this cytoplasmic gate can still open³⁸ and the Ca²⁺ ions remain under constant attack by water molecules and can be exchanged with other Ca²⁺ ions.

Phosphorylation and Occlusion: $E1 \cdot 2Ca^{2+} \rightarrow E1 \sim P \cdot 2Ca^{2+}$ (Figure 4 A \rightarrow B). The conformational changes following the induced fit of the two Ca²⁺ ions in the

transmembrane region are transmitted to the cytoplasmic domains, 50 Å away, providing the signal allowing phosphorylation. This ensures that ATP hydrolysis only takes place when ions are loaded, so that a tight coupling between ion transport and energy expenditure is obtained.⁵⁴

The phosphorylation process starts with binding of the adenosine of ATP to residue Phe487 of the N-domain. The γ -phosphate of ATP and a Mg²⁺ ion bridge the N-domain to the P-domain at residue Asp351 (N–P-link, Figure 4B).^{22,26} During the transition toward the E1~P phosphorylated state (presented by the E1•ADP•AlF₄⁻ structure²⁶), the P-domain bends and brings Asp703 closer to the phosphorylation site to catalyze the phosphorylation reaction. The ATP molecule is now positioned for an S_N2 nucleophilic reaction,^{22,26} which hydrolyses ATP and phosphorylates Asp351. The bending of the P-domain tilts the A-domain that rests on the P-domain, exerting strain on the link between the A-domain and M3. At the same time, M1–M2 is partially



Figure 5. Homology model of SPCA1d. (A) Front view and (B) back view of the SPCA1d homology model calculated using MODELER¹⁷⁸ (green). The SERCA1a E2(TG) structure $(2AGV)^{30}$ was used as a template and is shown for comparison (blue). The longer N- and C-termini of SPCA1d were left out of the calculation. The longer loops in SERCA are indicated in red and are predominantly found in the N-domain and in the luminal loops. (C) Detailed view of the Ca²⁺-binding site in E1·2Ca²⁺: SERCA (top, 1SU4 structure⁷) and SPCA (bottom, E1 homology model). Only site II is perfectly conserved between SPCA and SERCA. The residues important for Mn²⁺ selectivity in SPCA (and the corresponding residues in SERCA) are indicated in purple. The Ca²⁺ ions are shown in orange. Oxygen (red), nitrogen (blue), and sulfur (yellow) atoms are colored.

lifted out of the membrane and the amphipathic N-terminal region of M1 forms a kink and bends over to lie flat on the membrane layer.^{22,26} This closes the cytosolic access path to the binding sites and forces residue Glu309 in a fixed position.^{22,38,44} Because the Ca²⁺-entry pathway to the lumen is not yet open, the pump is now in an occluded state, preventing further exchange of Ca²⁺ ions from the cytosol.^{22,26,55} This ensures a highly efficient separation between the cytoplasm and the luminal environment that is required for perfect coupling of Ca²⁺ transport and ATP hydrolysis. Ca²⁺ Release: E1~P \rightarrow E2-P (Figure 4 B \rightarrow C). Once

Ca²⁺ Release: E1~P → E2-P (Figure 4 B→C). Once the ATP molecule forms a cross-link between the N- and P-domains, it holds the pump in a highly strained state. Upon phosphorylation, hydrolysis of ATP will break this tight association, and the N-domain carrying the ADP will dissociate from the P-domain.^{22,27,38} This also relaxes the strained state and brings about a new rotation of the A-domain, switching the pump to E2-P. Here, the space close to the aspartyl phosphate is no longer occupied by ADP but rather by the TGE-loop of the A-domain.²⁷ This shields the phosphorylation site by restricting the access of ADP or water. Together with the massive rotation of the A-domain, transmembrane helices M1−M6 are rearranged and a luminal exit pathway for Ca²⁺ is formed by spreading out M1/M2 and M3/M4 away from M5/M6.^{27,47} Rotation of M6 (Asp800) and a large downward movement of M4 (Glu309) distort the Ca²⁺-binding sites and reduce the Ca²⁺ affinity, which allows a quick release of Ca²⁺ even in the high-Ca²⁺ background of the ER lumen.^{21,27} Residues of the empty Ca²⁺-binding sites are immediately stabilized by protons and water molecules.³⁰ In fact, protons for countertransport should be in place to allow hydrolysis of the phosphoenzyme. The position of the countertransport protons in SERCA is not resolved yet, but the residues Glu309, Glu771, and Asn796 are exposed to the luminal exit pathway and are likely candidates for proton binding.^{27,49} In the Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase, the Rb⁺ counterions (as K⁺ congeners) interact with homologous residues (Glu327, Glu779, and Asp804).⁴²

Dephosphorylation and Occlusion: E2-P → **E2·P** (**Figure 4** C→D). The dephosphorylation reaction starts with the entrance of one water molecule into the phosphorylation site.²⁸ A new rotation of the A-domain is evoked, which accurately positions Glu183 of the TGE-loop to fix a water molecule and to catalyze its attack on the aspartyl phosphate via an associative S_N2 dephosphorylation reaction.^{23,25,56} The rotation of the A-domain also affects the luminal gate by repositioning M1/M2 back in the membrane. M1/M2 and M3/M4 close against M5−M10, and the cation-binding site becomes occluded.²⁷ Thus, dephosphorylation of the Ca²⁺-ATPase locks the luminal gate for protons.^{23,25,27}

In the ground state E2, the ATPase retains a compact conformation.²¹ Thermal agitation will open the headpiece to reach the more open E1 and E1 \cdot 2Ca²⁺ state and to release the bound protons.⁵⁷ Jensen et al.²⁹ proposed an alternative mechanism involving smaller conformational changes. Accordingly, Ca²⁺ activation of the phosphorylation reaction can proceed directly from the compact Ca²⁺-free E2-ATP state to another relatively compact Ca²⁺-bound E1-ATP form. This is supported by the observation that E1 crystals for electron microscopy obtained in milder conditions appear to be more compact.⁵⁸ Crystal structures of the pump in E2 with bound AMPPCP (an ATP homologue) demonstrate that ATP can bind in a compact E2 conformation.²⁹ Given the millimolar concentrations of ATP in the cell, it is thus possible that the nucleotide interacts with E2^{29,59} even before binding of Ca²⁺. This would favor a compact conformation of the pump in E1, speeding up the rate of the subsequent phosphorylation. The observed overall stimulatory effect of Mg²⁺-ATP on the rate of Ca²⁺ transport⁶⁰ would support this hypothesis.

Concluding Remarks on the Pumping Mechanism. Conformational changes in the cytosolic domains affect the relative position of the transmembrane helices, controlling the access to and affinity of the ion-binding sites. The Ca²⁺ pump effectively exploits inherently stochastic thermal motions to drive substantial conformational changes. The random thermal vibrations are effectively converted into a unidirectional series of domain rearrangements by suppressing the backward reactions.³⁸ Binding of the Mg²⁺, Ca²⁺, H₂O, and ATP ligands makes the energy barriers between the principal intermediates comparable to the thermal energy.³⁸ During the phosphorylation and dephosphorylation events, thermal fluctuations should be minimized to obtain the precise linear arrangement for the associative reaction mechanism. A vast number of ligand-domain, interdomain, and intradomain interactions temporarily forces the pump in a locked state.38,44

3.3. SERCA Proteins

3.3.1. SERCA1

SERCA1 was the first described isoform of the SERCA family. Its expression is almost entirely confined to fasttwitch skeletal-muscle fibers, where it represents the most abundant intrinsic membrane protein in the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR). Mutations in the ATP2A1 gene encoding SERCA1 in fast-twitch skeletal muscle cause Brody myopathy (OMIM 601003, Box 1), an autosomal recessive inherited disease with exercise-induced impairment of fasttwitch muscle relaxation in humans due to slow Ca²⁺ removal from the myoplasm.⁶¹ Several animal models for Brody disease showing mutations in the ATP2A1 gene have been described. Among these are congenital pseudomyotonia in Chianina cattle, which is due to a missense mutation in the actuator domain,⁶² and congenital muscular dystonia 1 in Belgian Blue cattle, which is caused by a mutation in the ATP-binding site.⁶³ Zebrafish behavioral mutants known as accordion also represent Brody models. They show strongly impaired tail-muscle relaxations and carry missense mutations in one of the three transmembrane segments (M2, M5, or M7) of the ATP2A1 gene.⁶⁴ In contrast to the situation in human and in Chianina cattle where the absence of functional SERCA1 appears to be tolerated reasonably well, affected Belgian Blue calves usually die within a few weeks as a result of respiratory complications. The situation is even more severe in homozygous *ATP2A1* knockout mice, which do not survive birth due to failure of the diaphragm to support respiration.⁶⁵

All SERCA genes, from fish to mammals, are expressed as different isoforms as a result of alternative splicing of the gene's primary transcript.²⁰ In the case of SERCA1, this splicing is developmentally regulated and results in a neonatal SERCA1b and an adult SERCA1a isoform.⁶⁶ In the neonatal isoform, a highly conserved octapeptide (-DPEDERRK) stretch consisting of mostly charged amino-acid residues replaces the C-terminal Gly residue found in the adult isoform. The physiological meaning of this neonatal isoform remains at present unknown.⁶⁶ The adult isoform results from the inclusion in the mature messenger of an optional exon (exon 22) that is spliced out in the neonatal condition. The retention of exon 22 in the adult SERCA1 mRNA is critically dependent on the presence of an alternative splice factor called muscle blind like, which binds to a series of CUG motives found in the intron immediately downstream of exon 22 in the ATP2A1 transcript to promote the retention of this exon. In type-1 myotonic dystrophy (OMIM 160900), the muscle blind like protein is titrated away by binding to an excessively long pathogenic (CUG)_n microsatellite expansion in the 5'-UTR of the DMPK (dystrophia myotonica protein kinase). The thus-created relative shortage of muscle blind like not only results in the expression of the neonatal SERCA1b in muscle but also causes a trans-dominant disturbance of the alternative splicing in a whole series of other gene transcripts including the ryanodine receptor (RyR), a chloride channel and an insulin receptor.⁶⁷

3.3.2. SERCA2

Properties and Expression. Of the three mammalian members belonging to the SERCA family, SERCA2 is evolutionary the oldest and orthologous to the invertebrate SERCA protein. It is remarkable that alternative processing of this SERCA-gene transcript, both in the invertebrates as well as in the vertebrates, can lead to at least two major different protein variants corresponding to the human SERCA2a and SERCA2b. The difference between the a isoform and the b isoform lies in the C-terminus. The b form of the invertebrate SERCA and of the vertebrate SERCA2 shows a C-terminal tail that is always a few tens of aminoacid residues longer than the a isoform, and it contains a segment with the propensity of forming an additional 11th transmembrane helix.⁶⁸⁻⁷⁰ In vertebrates, SERCA2b is the housekeeping variant and SERCA2a is a muscle-specific variant (expressed in the heart, slow-twitch skeletal muscle, and smooth-muscle cells).⁷¹ The last 4 amino acids of SERCA2a are replaced by a longer extension of 49 residues in SERCA2b, which contains an 11th transmembrane segment.⁷² The C-terminus of SERCA2b therefore resides in the lumen of the ER.^{72,73} Both in *Caenorhabditis elegans*⁶⁸ and in vertebrates,^{20,74,75} the extended tail in the b variant increases the affinity for cytosolic Ca²⁺ and lowers the maximal catalytic turnover rate compared to the shorter a form. It was shown for the human SERCA2b that its longer tail compared to SERCA2a mediates a reduction of the rate of Ca²⁺ dissociation from the Ca²⁺-binding sites and slows the E1~P to E2-P and E2-P to E2 conversions. These changes in the kinetics of SERCA2b explain the higher apparent affinity for Ca²⁺ and the lower maximal turnover rate.76

Recent PCR analysis pointed to the presence of mRNA encoding a third human variant, SERCA2c, in human monocytes and in cancers of myeloid and epithelial origin.⁷⁷ However, it appears that its expression level relative to SERCA2b must be low since it required an extended number of PCR cycles to amplify the corresponding SERCA2c fragment, and there is only one reported SERCA2c-related EST fragment in the databases (May 2009). This variant was expressed in the cardiac left ventricle, where again it only made up a small fraction of the total SERCA content.⁷⁸ SERCA2c contains a unique C-terminus of 6 amino acids, which lowers the Ca²⁺ affinity of the pump with respect to SERCA2a.⁷⁸

SERCA2 Mouse Models. The role of SERCA2a in cardiac excitation-contraction coupling is well-understood (reviewed in refs 79–81). In brief, SERCA2a activity is a major determinant of the kinetics and force of cardiac contraction and relaxation since it controls the rate of removing cytosolic Ca²⁺, the SR Ca²⁺ load, and therefore also the amount of Ca²⁺ available for contraction.⁸² Transgenic overexpression of SERCA1a⁸³ or SERCA2a⁸⁴ improved the speed of cardiac relaxation and contraction. The opposite is true for heterozygous knock-down of SERCA2.⁸⁵ Homozygous *SERCA2^{-/-}* mice are embryonically lethal.⁸⁵

A reduced SERCA2a activity would at least partially reflect the diminished cardiac contractility in heart failure.^{86,87} Enhancing the activity of SERCA2a therefore seems an appealing strategy to reverse the progression of heart failure. In the past decade, it has been repeatedly demonstrated in several animal models of this disease that increased SERCA2a activity translates in better contractile properties and sometimes reverses the disease's progression (reviewed in refs 79–81). Currently, a clinical phase-I trial is ongoing for the treatment of heart-failure patients via adenoviral delivery of SERCA-gene copies in the heart.⁸⁸

Contrary to expectations, SERCA2 haploinsufficiency in mice⁸⁵ and humans^{89,90} is not associated with cardiac disease, but is manifested in the skin. Heterozygous *SERCA2^{+/-}* mice are prone to develop squamous cell tumors,⁹¹ whereas humans lacking a functional copy of SERCA2 are affected by Darier disease (OMIM 124200, Box 1),⁹² a skin disease characterized by a disruption of cell–cell contacts (acantholeysis) in the suprabasal layers of keratinocytes in the epidermis.

Studies in our laboratory addressed the physiological meaning of the SERCA2a/b diversity in the heart. In the *SERCA2^{b/b}* mouse model, the SERCA2a isoform was substituted by the higher Ca²⁺-affinity variant SERCA2b. The adult *SERCA2^{b/b}* animals developed concentric left-ventricular cardiac hypertrophy with impaired cardiac contraction and relaxation, showing that it is specifically the SERCA2a isoform that is essential for normal cardiac growth and function.⁹³

In the *SERCA2^{b/b}* mouse model, the high Ca²⁺ affinity of SERCA2b was at least partially offset by the affinitymodulator phospholamban (PLN, see next paragraph), which played a protective role.⁹⁴ In addition, the SERCA-expression level in the heart of *SERCA2^{b/b}* mice was halved,⁹³ which might also help to offset the increased SERCA activity in the low cytosolic Ca²⁺-concentration range by the higher affinity variant SERCA2b.^{94,95} Whereas in *SERCA2^{b/b}* mice the partial loss of SERCA2b expression was accompanied by a stronger PLN inhibition,⁹⁴ the lower SERCA2a expression in two other mouse models (the heterozygous *SER*- $CA2^{+/-96}$ and $SERCA2^{b/WT}$ mice⁹⁵) was effectively compensated by a *reduced* inhibition by PLN. This suggests that, in the $SERCA2^{b/b}$ mice, compensation of the high Ca²⁺ affinity of SERCA2b by PLN is more important than maintaining normal SERCA2-expression levels, highlighting the importance of controlling the Ca²⁺ affinity of the cardiac SERCA pump.

Small Transmembrane Regulators PLN and Sarcolipin. PLN is by far the best-studied endogenous regulator of SERCA (extensively reviewed in refs 80, 81, and 97). PLN follows the expression pattern of SERCA2a, with the highest expression levels in the heart98,99 and some expression in slow-twitch skeletal muscle¹⁰⁰ and smooth-muscle cells.¹⁰¹ This 52-amino-acid long protein consists of a cytosolic and a transmembrane domain. PLN physically interacts with the SERCA pump¹⁰² and inhibits Ca²⁺ transport by lowering the apparent Ca²⁺ affinity of the pump.⁹⁷ PLN inhibits the activity of SERCA1a, SERCA2a, and SERCA2b, but not of SER-CA3.75 Guided by mutagenesis and cross-linking results, the PLN NMR structure was modeled on the SERCA1a crystal structure. This modeling placed the transmembrane region of PLN in the hydrophobic groove formed by M2, M4, M6, and M9 in the E2 conformation of SERCA. As SERCA moves to the E1 conformation, M2 is displaced, which narrows this groove, making it unsuitable for PLN interaction.^{103,104} PLN is therefore thought to hold the pump preferentially in the E2 conformation, consequently reducing the apparent affinity for Ca²⁺. The cytosolic PLN domain interacts with residues in the N-domain of the pump.¹⁰² Phosphorylation of PLN dissociates the functional interaction with the Ca²⁺ pump but is less effective than Ca²⁺ binding to SERCA in breaking up physical interactions.¹⁰⁵ PLN pentamers act as a reservoir for PLN monomers, the predominant active form, which can readily dissociate from the pentamer when dephosphorylated.⁸¹ The extent of PLN phosphorylation thus critically determines its inhibitory properties. At least two sites are phosphorylated during β -adrenergic stimulation in vivo: Ser16 is phosphorylated by cAMP-dependent protein kinase and Thr17 by Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CaMKII).¹⁰⁶

In resting conditions, PLN is a physiological brake of SERCA2a Ca²⁺ transport that inhibits cardiac contractility.⁷⁹ During β -adrenergic stimulation, this inhibition is relieved by phosphorylation of PLN, which substantially contributes to the inotropic (enhanced contraction) and lusitropic (enhanced relaxation rate) effects of β -stimulation.¹⁰⁷ The role of the dual phosphorylation sites on PLN has been extensively investigated in transgenic mice expressing phosphorylation-site-specific mutants in the PLN null background.^{108,109} These studies suggest that phosphorylation on Ser16 is sufficient to mediate a full β -adrenergic effect in vivo and that Ser16 phosphorylation is a prerequisite for phosphorylation on Thr17. However, the failure to find PLN phosphorylation in transgenic mice in which the Ser16 site was mutated to Ala can be attributed to the fact that the lack of phosphorylation of the Ser16 site precludes the increase in cytosolic [Ca²⁺] necessary to activate CaMKII and phosphorylate Thr17. In fact, Thr17 phosphorylation, independent from Ser16, has been observed in several (patho)physiological conditions (reviewed in ref 110). Whereas Ser16 would be the predominant site of phosphorylation during β -adrenergic stimulation, Thr17 could be important to mediate the frequency-dependent acceleration of relaxation (FDAR). FDAR is impaired in the Thr17Ala PLN transgenic mice,

Intracellular Ca²⁺- and Mn²⁺-Transport ATPases

suggesting that the frequency-dependent increase in phosphorylation of Thr17 by CaMKII plays a major role in the positive force-frequency relationship in cardiomyocytes.¹¹¹ This view is, however, challenged by other observations, e.g., those showing that PLN is not required for mediation of FDAR.¹¹² The reader is further referred to other reviews that treat the physiological importance of PLN in cardiac-muscle contractility into more depth.^{79–81,113}

Recently, sarcolipin (SLN) emerged as another regulator of the cardiac SERCA2a pump. Initially, SLN was considered as the PLN counterpart in skeletal muscle, regulating exclusively SERCA1a activity. Recent studies, however, demonstrated that SLN is coexpressed with SERCA2a and PLN in the atria of the heart (but not in the ventricles) and in slow-twitch skeletal muscle.98,99 In vitro, SLN is able to lower the apparent Ca²⁺ affinity of SERCA1a and SERCA2a. SLN could also regulate SERCA2a activity in vivo, as shown by adenoviral overexpression of SLN in isolated cardiomyocytes¹¹⁴ or transgenic SLN overexpression in the mouse heart.^{115,116} SLN is a 31-amino-acid long PLN homologue. Compared to PLN, SLN has a much shorter cytosolic domain but a slightly longer, highly conserved luminal C-terminus $(R^{27}SYQY)$. This extension is not only important for proper targeting and insertion into the ER membrane¹¹⁷ but is also crucial for interacting with the luminal face of SERCA1a.¹¹⁸ Like PLN, SLN directly interacts with the Ca²⁺ transporter, lowering its apparent affinity for Ca²⁺. SLN presumably occupies the same hydrophobic binding groove in the E2 conformation (M2, M4, M6, M9) as PLN, suggesting a similar mode of action.^{119,120} Moreover, this hydrophobic groove could accommodate both SLN and PLN simultaneously.^{119,120} SLN and PLN enforce each other's function in vitro, synergizing as a super inhibitor of either SERCA1a or SERCA2a,¹²¹ but it remains to be determined whether this superinhibition plays a physiological role.

In contrast to earlier reports,¹²² more recent studies suggest that, as for PLN, the activity of SLN can be regulated by phosphorylation. This might explain why the inhibitory effect of overexpressed SLN on cardiac contractile function could be reversed by treatment with isoproterenol, a β -agonist, ^{115,116} even in the absence of endogenous PLN.¹²³ Conversely, loss of SLN in the atria was found to be associated with a blunted β -adrenergic response.¹²⁴ Together, these studies suggest that SLN, like PLN, could play a role in the β -adrenergic stimulation of the atria.⁸¹ The exact mechanism by which SLN responds to adrenergic activation is yet to be determined. Predicted phosphorylation sites in SLN are Ser4 (cow, rabbit, pig SLN) or Thr5 (human, mouse, rat SLN). At least the serine-threonine protein kinase 16 is able to modulate SLN-dependent inhibition of SERCA1a activity in vitro,¹²³ but its physiological relevance remains unclear.¹²³

Other Regulators of SERCA2. PLN and SLN are the best known endogenous regulators of SERCA2, but in the last few decades, several other SERCA-interacting proteins and post-translational modifications of SERCA2 that modulate the activity of this Ca²⁺ pump were identified. The vast literature concerning this topic was recently reviewed elsewhere¹²⁵ and will not be further treated in depth. Some of the proteins that were suggested to modulate SERCA2 activity are: the antiapoptotic protein Bcl-2,¹²⁶ the insulin-receptor substrates IRS1/2,¹²⁷ the EF-hand Ca²⁺-binding protein S100A1,¹²⁸ acylphosphatase,¹²⁹ G-protein-coupled receptors,¹³⁰ TRPC1,¹³¹ and HAX-1.¹³² Possible interactions with SERCA2 in the ER lumen were described for calreti-

culin, calnexin, calmegin, and ERp57.¹³³ *N*-glycosylation, glutathionylation, nitration, and phosphorylation are among the post-translational modifications that have been suggested to modulate the activity of the pump. Maladaptations in several of these regulatory mechanisms are linked to disease (reviewed in ref 98).

3.3.3. SERCA3

Properties. SERCA3 differs from the other SERCA isoforms by its remarkably low affinity for cytosolic Ca²⁺ (supramicromolar) and luminal Ca²⁺ (lower millimolar),¹³⁴ its insensitivity to PLN,¹³⁵ and its higher resistance to oxidative damage.¹³⁶ The lower affinity for cytosolic Ca²⁺ can be partially ascribed to a reduction in the E2- to E1-transition rate. A longer dwelling time in the low-affinity E2 conformation results in a lower apparent affinity for Ca²⁺ and is accompanied by a higher sensitivity for vanadate.^{134,136} Besides the kinetic effect, SERCA3 also manifests a true lower affinity for binding not only of cytosolic but also of luminal Ca²⁺. The physiological relevance of the lower Ca²⁺ affinity of SERCA3 remains unknown, but a pump with a low sensitivity to luminal Ca²⁺ might be better suited to accumulate Ca²⁺ to higher levels in the ER.

Expression. Alternative processing of the transcripts of the SERCA3 gene results in at least 6 different isoforms in human (SERCA3a-f), 3 in mice (SERCA3a-c), and 2 in rats SERCA3a, b/c).^{20,137} Like for SERCA1 and SERCA2, these SERCA3 isoforms also differ only in their C-terminus. It is too early to understand the physiological/pathological consequences of this bewildering isoform diversity. Some of these splice variants like, e.g., the human SERCA3d and SERCA3f were reported to be targeted to a specific subcellular localization in the cardiomyocyte or to cause ER stress when overexpressed (SERCA3f),¹³⁷ but as yet no clear expression/function-relation pattern can be discerned.

Factors controlling SERCA3 expression are complex and poorly understood, but SERCA3 can be used as a differentiation marker in vascular endothelial cells¹³⁸ and in colon mucosa.¹³⁹ In both cell types, SERCA3 expression decreases when cells dedifferentiate and proliferate. The loss of SERCA3 expression is an early event accompanying colon and stomach carcinogenesis and is controlled by the APC/ β -catenin/TCF4 pathway.¹³⁹

As for many genes with TATA-less promoters, the 5'flanking region of the human SERCA3 gene (*ATP2A3*) is embedded in a CpG-island characterized by the presence of multiple Sp1 (specificity protein 1) sites as well as a single Ets-1 (E twenty-six 1) site.¹⁴⁰ The basal transcription of the mouse SERCA3 gene was shown to be governed by Ets-1 and Sp1.¹⁴¹ Also the Ca²⁺-dependent activation of SERCA3 transcription, which is regulated by the calcineurin/NFAT (nuclear factor of activated T-cells) pathway in endothelial cells, makes use of Ets-1 activation.¹⁴²

SERCA3 Mouse Models. While *SERCA1^{-/-}* mice develop respiratory failure shortly after birth⁶⁵ and SERCA2 ablation is embryonically lethal,⁸⁵ SERCA3 ablation is well-tolerated and not accompanied by an overt disease phenotype.¹⁴³ In view of the high expression of SERCA3 in pancreatic beta cells, and reports linking mutations in the human *ATP2A3* gene encoding SERCA3 with diabetes mellitus type 2,¹⁴⁴ Arredouani et al.¹⁴⁵ investigated the effects of SERCA3 ablation in mice. Glucose-induced cytosolic Ca²⁺ oscillations were only mildly affected, probably because Ca²⁺ uptake into the ER is largely mediated by SERCA2b at near-

resting Ca²⁺ levels. SERCA3 became active only at higher cytosolic [Ca²⁺], where it blunted the Ca²⁺ oscillations. The loss of SERCA3 had no major impact on insulin secretion, and the *SERCA3^{-/-}* mice did not develop diabetes.¹⁴⁵

Differentiated vascular endothelial cells express high levels of SERCA3.¹³⁸ Here too, in spite of reported reductions in acetylcholine-induced endothelium-dependent relaxation of aortas precontracted with phenylephrine,¹⁴³ blood pressure is normal in homozygous SERCA3 null mutants.¹⁴⁵

3.4. SERCA Inhibitors

The transition-metal oxoanion vanadate (VO_4^{3-}) is a characteristic inhibitor of P-type ATPases and is believed to mimic the transitional state of the phosphoryl group in the E2 conformation of the enzyme. Vanadate inhibits all P-type ATPases and will therefore not be discussed further. We will focus on selective high-affinity inhibitors of SERCA pumps: thapsigargin, cyclopiazonic acid, 2,5-di-*tert*-butyl hydroquinone, and artemisinins.

3.4.1. Thapsigargin

Thapsigargin, a plant-derived sesquiterpene lactone extracted from *Thapsia garganica*,¹⁴⁶ is the most specific known inhibitor of SERCAs. Thapsigargin binds with subnanomolar affinity¹⁴⁷ to SERCA1 in a wedge-shaped space bordered by the M3, M5, and M7 transmembrane helices.^{21,148} It stabilizes the pump by restricting the movement of the helices relative to each other. This efficiently holds the pump in a Ca²⁺-free E2-like conformation, with a minimal effect on the structure.^{27,148} Although all mammalian SERCA isoforms bind thapsigargin with high affinity, the sensitivity may slightly differ, with SERCA1 being most sensitive and SERCA3 showing the lowest affinity.¹⁴⁷ Mammalian SERCA isoforms can become less sensitive to thapsigargin after prolonged treatment of cultured cells in the presence of the inhibitor.¹⁴⁹

The binding is specific for the mammalian SERCA1–3, with much less and often no inhibitory effect on other P-type ATPases like PMCAs and SPCAs. One notable exception appears to be the AtHMA1 heavy-metal pump in *A. thaliana*, which belongs to the P_{1B}-ATPase subfamily and which can also transport Ca²⁺. This is the first described plant P-type pump that is specifically inhibited by thapsigargin.¹⁵⁰ In contrast, the plant ECAs that are related to the mammalian SERCA pumps¹⁵¹ and the SERCA orthologue PfATP4 in *P. falciparum*¹⁵² are insensitive to thapsigargin.

3.4.2. Cyclopiazonic Acid and 2,5-Di-tert-butyl Hydroquinone

Cyclopiazonic acid is an indole tetramic acid fungal toxin. 2,5-Di-*tert*-butyl hydroquinone is a synthetic compound that is sometimes used as an antioxidant. They bind with a much lower affinity than thapsigargin to the SERCA. Their binding site in the transmembrane domain of the ATPase is clearly distinct from the thapsigargin-interaction site and is located closer to the cytosol. Indeed, SERCA1 crystals where thapsigargin and 2,5-di-*tert*-butyl hydroquinone were simultaneously bound have been obtained.^{24,148} The binding domains for cyclopiazonic acid and 2,5-di-*tert*-butyl hydroquinone partially overlap and are found in what is believed to be the cytosolic Ca²⁺-access channel of the ATPase. They block the ATPase in an E2-like state by locking M1 and

M2 against M4. The inhibition can be reversed by raising the [ATP] and $[Ca^{2+}]$.²⁴ Interestingly, cyclopiazonic acid and 2,5-di-*tert*-butyl hydroquinone also inhibit the SERCA orthologues in plants and *P. falciparum*.¹⁵¹

3.4.3. Artemisinin

Artemisinin is a sesquiterpene lactone endoperoxide extracted from the sweet wormwood (Artemisia annua) and a potent antimalarial agent that kills the malaria parasite. The SERCA orthologues of *P. falciparum*¹⁵³ and *Toxoplasma* gondii,¹⁵⁴ but not the vertebrate SERCAs, are inhibited by artemisinin, resulting in a perturbed Ca²⁺ homeostasis in these species.¹⁵⁴ Although the peroxide action on a variety of different targets in the parasite might explain the antimalarial action of the artemisinins, there is strong support for the view that the binding of artemisinin to the SERCA of the parasite might certainly contribute to its action. The reader is referred to a recent review by Krishna et al.¹⁵⁵ for further details. The binding of artemisinin or of its derivatives dihydroartemisinin, artmether, arteether, and artesunate¹⁵⁶ is thought to occur overlapping with, or close to, the thapsigargin-binding site, i.e., at the transmembrane domain in a cleft bordered by M3, M5, and M7. Indeed, single aminoacid substitutions in M3 could abolish artemisinin inhibition of pfATPase6.157 However, the exact binding geometry of artemisinin remains to be further specified. Unfortunately, the sequences of the thapsigargin-binding pocket of SERCA1a, which is known from various crystal structures, and of the corresponding segments of the *Plasmodium* pump are too divergent to allow detailed modeling.

4. SPCAs

The SPCAs are, together with the SERCAs, responsible for loading the nonmitochondrial intracellular stores with Ca^{2+} . They both belong to the P_{2A}-ATPase phylogenetic subgroup. The characteristics of the SPCAs have been covered in comprehensive reviews.^{20,158,159} Here, we will mainly focus on the more recent findings.

4.1. Genes Encoding SPCAs

The first member of the SPCA family was discovered and initially characterized in the yeast S. cerevisiae and designated Pmr1 (for plasma membrane ATPase-related). The PMR1 gene was independently identified in the mid 1980s by two laboratories: Smith et al.¹⁶⁰ cloned the gene by complementation of "supersecreting" yeast mutants (ssc) that secrete large amounts of heterologously expressed proteins, while Serrano et al.¹⁶¹ identified the same gene by its homology to the PMA1 gene for the yeast plasma-membrane H⁺-ATPase via low-stringency hybridization with a *PMA1* probe. Later on, homologues were discovered in multicellular model systems like Homo sapiens,162-164 C. elegans,165 and Drosophila melanogaster,¹⁶⁶ but also in a number of other fungi like Kluyveromyces lactis,¹⁶⁷ Yarrowia lipolytica,¹⁶⁸ Hansenula polymorpha,¹⁶⁹ Schizosaccharomyces pombe,¹⁷⁰ Aspergillus niger,¹⁷¹ Candida albicans,¹⁷² and Pichia pastoris.173

In humans, the *ATP2C1* gene encoding SPCA1 was mapped to chromosome 3 and proved to be the gene defective in the Hailey–Hailey human skin disease (OMIM 169600, Box 1).^{162,163} Although there was some initial confusion about the alternative splicing of the gene product,

the unifying study of Fairclough et al. eventually described four different splice variants.¹⁷⁴ The resulting proteins are termed SPCA1a-d and only differ in their C-termini. The presence of a second member of the SPCA family was implicitly suggested by Ishikawa et al.¹⁷⁵ from a predictive screen for cDNAs encoding large proteins in the brain. In 2005, the human *ATP2C2* gene product (SPCA2) was simultaneously characterized by Vanoevelen et al.¹⁷⁶ and Xiang et al.¹⁷⁷

4.2. Structure of SPCAs

The published structures of SERCA1a serve as excellent templates for homology modeling of related P-type ATPases. Homology models were previously described for several P-type ATPases, including Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase,^{178,179} H⁺-AT-Pase,¹⁸⁰ PMCA,¹⁸¹ and H⁺,K⁺-ATPase.¹⁸² Here, we present two homology models of the human SPCA1d based on the SERCA1a structures E1•2Ca²⁺ (1SU4) and E2 (1IWO) as templates (Figure 5, calculated using MODELLER¹⁷⁸). This pump displays a 29% sequence identity and 43% similarity with the rabbit SERCA1a. The longer N- and C-termini of SPCA were excluded from the model due to the lack of additional structural information.

In general, the SPCA sequence is shorter and more compact than SERCA (parts A and B of Figure 5). The SERCA protein displays longer cytosolic and luminal loops, possibly containing unique regulatory and interaction sites. At least some of these longer loops in SERCA are known protein-interaction sites: binding of ERp57 to SERCA's luminal loop L7–8 modulates the redox state of the pump,¹³³ and interaction of HAX-1 with the longer cytosolic loop 575–594 of the SERCA2 N-domain regulates the protein levels of the pump.¹³² In the next sections, some structural features of the SPCA pumps are highlighted.

4.2.1. Mn^{2+} and Ca^{2+} Binding

In contrast to the SERCA Ca^{2+} pumps, the SPCA pumps, like the PMCAs, transport only 1 Ca^{2+} ion per ATP. This would be consistent with the presence of only one Ca^{2+} -binding site. Indeed, only the side chains contributing to the Ca^{2+} -binding site II are perfectly conserved between SERCA and SPCA (Figures 1 and 5C). The SPCA1-E1-homology model predicts a similar orientation of the side chains contributing to Ca^{2+} binding in site II. Site I is not suited to accommodate a Ca^{2+} ion in SPCA. Site I confers no (in PMCA) or only one shorter (in SPCA) acidic residue. Also the size and shape of the site-I cavity are different: the bulkier Met741 in SPCA replaces Thr799, and some of the side chains are smaller (Figures 1 and 5C).

All Ca²⁺-ATPases thus have Ca²⁺-binding site II in common, suggesting that site II is more fundamental to the operation of the Ca²⁺ transporters⁴⁵ (Figure 5C). Site II contains the gating residue (Glu309 in SERCA1), which is not only important for Ca²⁺ binding but is also crucial for the subsequent phosphorylation and occlusion of Ca²⁺ ions.^{52,183} This conserved ion-binding site in SPCA supports the view that similar Ca²⁺-binding mechanisms apply to both pumps, with Glu308 (the homologue of Glu309 in SERCA1) likely functioning as the gating residue.

Three interesting features of SPCAs suggest that ion selection and entry in these transporters may be fundamentally different from SERCA1a transporters. *First* is the transport of Mn²⁺, a particular characteristic of SPCA pumps. Other Ca²⁺-ATPases display very weak affinity toward Mn²⁺ and transport Mn²⁺ only at high, nonphysiological Mn²⁺ concentrations. In SPCAs, the transport of Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ is mutually exclusive, suggesting that both ions occupy the same ion-binding site.^{165,184} This implies that discrete structural elements provide the Mn²⁺ selectivity of SPCA pumps. At least some residues that are crucial for Mn²⁺ selectivity were identified in the yeast Pmr1. These residues are located at the cytoplasmic side of the ion-binding site, between the side chains of Gln783 (M6) and Val335 (M4),^{185,186} and they are conserved in the human SPCA1 (the homologues Gln747 and Val315 are shown in Figure 5C) and SPCA2 isoforms. This region may constitute an access gate for Mn^{2+} ions. Gln783 in M6 may form a critical hydrophobic interaction with Val335 in M4, which is important for correct packing of the transmembrane helices.¹⁸⁵ Second, the N-termini of PMR1 and SPCA1 contain an unpaired EF-hand-like motif, which is a helix-loop-helix structure (not shown in the models of Figure 5). In the yeast Pmr1, this motif binds Ca^{2+} and modulates the ion transport.¹⁸⁷ Third, the negatively charged residues in the W⁵⁰ELVIEQFEDLLVRI sequence would shape the putative Ca^{2+} -entry site in M1 of SERCA1a. At least some of these residues were shown to participate in the binding of a divalent metal ion $(Mn^{2+} \text{ or } Mg^{2+})$ in the presence of cyclopiazonic acid, which may mimic the binding of Ca²⁺ along the entry pathway.¹⁸⁸ Importantly, these residues are highly conserved in SERCAs and PMCAs (L⁹⁴ELVWEALQDVTLII in hPMCA4b)⁴⁴ but are completely lacking and replaced by positive charges in SPCA (W⁷²KKYISQFKNPLIML in hSPCA1d), pointing to fundamental differences in the entry pathway of these pumps.

4.2.2. Countertransport

The traditional view is that all P-type ion-motive ATPases catalyze an exchange of ions. After having translocated ions from the cytosol to an extra-cytosolic compartment, they transport other ions from the extra-cytosolic compartment to the cytosol (K⁺ for Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase and H⁺,K⁺-ATPase, H⁺ for SERCA and PMCA). The pronounced leakiness of the ER membrane for protons¹⁸⁹ questions the physiological relevance of proton countertransport in the SERCAs. It has, however, been demonstrated that proton countertransport serves a structural role and is required for stabilizing the empty Ca²⁺-binding pocket in the E2 conformation.³⁰ Thus, countertransport seems fundamental to the operation of SERCA1a, and it has been suggested that it could be mandatory to all P-type ATPases.¹⁹⁰ It is well-known that the addition of K^+ ions or lowering the pH stimulate the dephosphorylation reaction (E2-P \rightarrow E2) of SERCA.^{191,192} However, SPCA resides in the Golgi membrane, which is much less proton-permeable than the ER. The dephosphorylation reaction of SPCAs is constitutively highly activated and is not further stimulated by protons or K^+ ions, which may imply that SPCAs do not perform countertransport.¹⁹³ This could be an important adaptation of SPCA pumps to prevent protons from leaving the acidic Golgi compartment. In the Golgi, V-type ATPases actively accumulate protons and the tight Golgi membrane prevents protons from leaking out. Preventing proton countertransport in SPCA pumps would contribute to maintain a low pH in the Golgi apparatus, which is essential to support several vital functions.¹⁹⁴ Compensation of the empty binding site in SPCA may not be crucial, since after the release of only one Ca^{2+} , at least fewer negative charges are present in SPCA than in

SERCA. Even in SERCA pumps, not all negative charges in the E2 form are fully compensated by counterions.^{30,34,35} Also plant proton pumps do not exhibit countertransport, further questioning whether this really is a universal feature of P-type ion transporters. Here, a built-in counterion (Arg655) neutralizes the deprotonated negatively charged aspartate (Asp684) in the E2 conformation.^{41,195}

4.3. Expression of SPCAs

4.3.1. SPCA1

Cell-Specific Expression. SPCA1 is believed to be the housekeeping Ca^{2+} and Mn^{2+} pump of the secretory pathway because it is expressed in all cells. However, different laboratories have obtained slightly different results on the relative expression level in various tissues. Wootton et al.¹⁹⁶ observed much higher mRNA and protein levels in rat brain and testis than in other tissues like lung and liver. Such relatively high SPCA-mRNA expression, when compared to other tissues, was not observed in human brain and testis.^{163,176} The cell-type dependent expression of SPCA1 in various animal species thus merits further study.

Subcellular Localization. The yeast PMR1 is localized in the Golgi apparatus or one of its subcompartments.¹⁹⁷ SPCA from *C. elegans* heterologously expressed in COS-1 cells¹⁶⁵ and the human SPCA1 expressed in CHO cells¹⁹⁸ also appeared in the Golgi area. It is now well-established that also the endogenous SPCAs in a whole range of cells are present in the Golgi compartment (reviewed in ref 199).

SPCA1 in human spermatozoa seems to occupy an unusual localization: it is found in an area behind the nucleus extending into the midpiece. SPCA1 may be the only intracellular Ca²⁺ pump in these cells because both functional and immunocytochemical tests failed to demonstrate the presence of SERCAs.²⁰⁰ Thapsigargin concentrations up to 1 μ M did not influence cytosolic [Ca²⁺] in sperm cells. Higher concentrations of thapsigargin and bisphenol disturbed intracellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis, with an elevation of the resting cytosolic [Ca²⁺] and an inhibition of the normal Ca²⁺ oscillations. Intracellular Ca²⁺ stores in sperm cells may therefore rely on a thapsigargin-insensitive Ca²⁺ pump different from the SERCAs of normal somatic cells. This pump is probably SPCA1. Sea-urchin (Strongylocentrotus purpuratus) sperm cells also appear to lack SERCAs. Their SPCAs are located in the zone occupied by the single giant mitochondrion where the main ATPases involved in Ca²⁺store filling are situated.^{201,202}

In *D. melanogaster*, the SPCA-homologue SPoCk is alternatively spliced in three products termed SPoCk-A, SPoCk-B, and SPoCk-C. Interestingly, only the SPoCk-A isoform is localized in the Golgi apparatus. The localization of SPoCk-B and C is less clear, and unexpected targeting to, respectively, the ER and the peroxisomes was reported.¹⁶⁶ In this context, it should be mentioned that peroxisomes of mammalian cells appear to lack active Ca^{2+} -uptake systems altogether.²⁰³

4.3.2. SPCA2

Analysis of the databases indicates that the second member of the SPCA family appears from Amphibia onward and is thus absent in fish.

Cell-Specific Expression. In human tissues, SPCA2 expression is more constrained than that of SPCA1, suggesting a more specialized physiological function of the

former. Its mRNA is most abundant in the various segments of the gastrointestinal tract, in trachea, thyroid, salivary gland, mammary gland, and prostate.¹⁷⁶ Hence, SPCA2 appears most abundantly expressed in some cells endowed with an active secretion system like the mammary-gland cells during lactation²⁰⁴ and the mucin-secreting goblet cells in human colon.^{176,205} However, reported SPCA2 expression in keratinocytes, neutrophils, and hippocampal neurons does not fit this picture. These data on mRNA expression should, however, be confirmed at the protein level. So far, the presently available antibodies could only demonstrate SPCA2 expression in cultured hippocampal neurons,¹⁷⁷ in the co-lon,¹⁷⁶ in the secretory acini of the mouse mammary gland,²⁰⁴ and in neutrophil granulocytes.²⁰⁶

Further arguments for the housekeeping role of SPCA1 and the specialized role of SPCA2 were supplied by Faddy et al.,²⁰⁴ who showed a ubiquitous distribution of SPCA1 in all cells in mouse lactating mammary tissue whereas SPCA2 was only expressed in the milk-secreting luminal epithelial cells.

Subcellular Localization. The precise subcellular localization of SPCA2 is not completely unambiguous. In human goblet cells, both SPCA2 and SPCA1 colocalized with Golgi markers in a compact structure near the apical pole of the nucleus.¹⁷⁶ Also, upon heterologous expression in COS-1 cells, SPCA2 appeared in the Golgi area.¹⁹⁹ In cultured mouse hippocampal neurons, however, SPCA2 staining showed a punctate distribution in the cell body and in the dendrites.¹⁷⁷ Although in neurons the Golgi apparatus does in general appear as a more fragmented structure deviating from the ribbon-like juxtanuclear position observed in other cells, SPCA2 only partially colocalized with the *trans*-Golgi marker TGN38. It was therefore argued that in hippocampal neurons SPCA2 is at least partially localized in downstream, post-Golgi segments of the secretory pathway.¹⁷⁷

4.4. Kinetic Properties of SPCAs

Detailed analyses on both the overall reaction cycle and the partial reaction steps of all SPCA1 isoforms and of SPCA2 in comparison with the reactions in SERCA1 are available.^{193,207} SPCAs and SERCAs display distinct kinetic parameters, providing insight in the specific concentration dependences for the different substrates (Ca²⁺, ATP, inorganic phosphate) and inhibitors (vanadate or thapsigargin), the different maximum turnover rates, and the different sensitivity to modulation by H⁺ and K⁺ ions of the E2-P dephosphorylation.

There are four human SPCA1 splice variants of which SPCA1c is a nonfunctional variant. The functionally active SPCA1a, SPCA1b, and SPCA1d displayed very high apparent affinities for Ca²⁺ ($K_{0.5} = 9-10$ nM) relative to yeast SPCA ($K_{0.5} = 70$ nM) or SERCA1a ($K_{0.5} = 284$ nM). Also SPCA2 had a high apparent affinity for Ca²⁺ ($K_{0.5} = 25$ nM). Depending on the specific isoform, the maximal turnover rates are 3.2- to 6.4-fold lower than that of SERCA1a (130 s⁻¹). SPCA2 has an almost 2-fold enhanced turnover rate relative to the human SPCA1 isoforms. In comparison to SERCA1a, SPCA1 isoforms are characterized by slower rates of phosphorylation.

The low turnover rate and high apparent affinity for Ca^{2+} of the SPCA1 pumps could in principle represent necessary adaptations to function in the Golgi compartments. A higher rate of ion accumulation is not required in the Golgi because it does not take part in rapid cytosolic Ca^{2+} signaling, and

Table 1. Overview of Different Infibitors of Metazoan Intracenular Ca -AI	I Pases
---	---------

ATPase	assay	experimental system	potency	ref					
Thapsigargin									
SERCA1	⁴⁵ Ca ²⁺ uptake	overexpression COS	max inhibition = $25-100 \text{ nM}$	434					
	% phosphorylation	overexpression HEK	$IC_{50} = 0.031 \text{ nM}$	193					
	ATPase activity	overexpression COS	$K_{\rm i} = 0.21 {\rm nM}$	147					
SERCA2	⁴⁵ Ca ²⁺ uptake	overexpression COS	max inhibition = $25-100 \text{ nM}$	434					
	ATPase activity	overexpression COS	$K_{\rm i} = 1.3 {\rm nM}$	147					
SERCA3	⁴⁵ Ca ²⁺ uptake	overexpression COS	max inhibition = $25-100 \text{ nM}$	434					
	ATPase activity	overexpression COS	$K_{\rm i} = 12 \rm nM$	147					
SPCA1	% phosphorylation	overexpression HEK	$IC_{50} = 28 \ \mu M$	207					
SPCA2	% phosphorylation	overexpression HEK	$IC_{50} = 2 \ \mu M$	207					
Cyclopiazonic acid									
SERCA1	ATPase activity	overexpression COS	$K_{\rm i} = 90 \rm nM$	147					
SERCA2	⁴⁵ Ca ²⁺ uptake	A7r5, 16HBE14o-,COS	$IC_{50} = 0.7 - 1.6 \ \mu M$	211					
	ATPase activity	overexpression COS	$K_{\rm i} = 2.5 \ \mu {\rm M}$	147					
SERCA3	ATPase activity	overexpression COS	$K_{\rm i} = 0.6 \mu{\rm M}$	147					
SPCA1	⁴⁵ Ca ²⁺ uptake	A7r5, 16HBE140-,COS	$IC_{50} = 165 - 337 \ \mu M$	211					
SPCA2	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.						
2.5-Di- <i>tert</i> -butyl hydroquinone									
SERCA1	ATPase activity	overexpression COS	$K_{\rm i} = 7 \ \mu {\rm M}$	147					
SERCA2	⁴⁵ Ca ²⁺ uptake	A7r5, 16HBE140-,COS	$IC_{50} = 1 - 1.4 \ \mu M$	211					
	ATPase activity	overexpression COS	$K_{i} = 2.6 \ \mu M$	147					
SERCA3	ATPase activity	overexpression COS	$K_{i} = 1.7 \ \mu M$	147					
SPCA1	⁴⁵ Ca ²⁺ uptake	A7r5, 16HBE140COS	$IC_{50} = >1 mM$	211					
SPCA2	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.						

^{*a*} Different known inhibitors of metazoan intracellular Ca²⁺-ATPases are summarized with their inhibitory concentration, the experimental system used, and the references (N.D. = not determined)

in most cells the depletion of Ca^{2+} occurs only via the slower process of forward trafficking of Ca^{2+} -rich vesicles down the secretory pathway. On the other hand, the higher turnover rate of SPCA2 in secretory cells might adapt these cells for more intense trafficking of Ca^{2+} -rich vesicles than in nonsecretory cells. The relatively high apparent affinity for Ca^{2+} displayed by SPCAs with $K_{0.5}$ values below the resting cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$ ensures that the refilling process of the Golgi complex with cytosolic Ca^{2+} occurs continuously, even in the absence of transient rises in cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$.

4.5. SPCA Inhibitors

Unfortunately, there are currently no known specific inhibitors of the SPCAs.²⁰ For functional studies, one is limited to assessing the active transport in conditions where all other P-type Ca²⁺-transport ATPases are inhibited.^{196,208} Therefore, it is imperative to know the sensitivity of SPCAs for the classical inhibitors of P-type Ca²⁺-transport ATPases.

Already during the initial characterization of Pmr1, its sensitivity for thapsigargin was tested. Pmr1 was found to be insensitive to thapsigargin at concentrations of up to 5 μ M,²⁰⁹ whereas the inhibitory concentrations for SERCA are in the (sub)-nanomolar range. Since then, this insensitivity has been used extensively to discriminate between SERCA-dependent and SPCA-dependent Ca²⁺ stores.²¹⁰ Whereas SERCA1a shows a K_d value for thapsigargin of 0.03 nM, SPCA1d had a K_d of 28 μ M (Table 1). Thapsigargin sensitivity of SPCA2, on the other hand, was 1 order of magnitude higher ($K_d = 2 \mu$ M). Nonetheless, SPCA2 is still considered to be thapsigargin-insensitive.²⁰⁷

Additionally, SPCA1 was also found to be 2 orders of magnitude less sensitive to cyclopiazonic acid and 2,5-di*tert*-butyl hydroquinone²¹¹ (Table 1). Like all P-type AT-Pases, SPCAs are inhibited by vanadate.²⁰⁹ However, their affinity for vanadate is 2- to 5-fold lower when compared to SERCA1a.¹⁹³

Another pharmacological tool that can be used to discriminate between SERCA-dependent and SPCA-dependent stores is bisphenol, a phenolic antioxidant. At low concentration (~10 μ M), it is believed to inhibit predominantly SERCA-dependent stores, while at higher concentration (~40 μ M), it inhibits both the thapsigargin-sensitive and thapsigargin-resistant components of Ca²⁺-ATPase activity, showing that this compound inhibits both SERCA and SPCA pumps.^{196,212}

4.6. Function of SPCAs

4.6.1. pmr1 Mutants in Yeast

While homozygous null mutations in the *ATP2C1* gene encoding SPCA1 seem to be unviable in mammals,²¹³ they are tolerated in lower eukaryotes, including fungi and *C. elegans*,^{214,215} where compensatory mechanisms presumably suffice to allow viability. A particularly tractable model for understanding such mechanisms is the yeast orthologue Pmr1. *pmr1* mutants in yeast display pleiotropic changes in Ca²⁺-dependent growth,¹⁹⁷ secretion of unprocessed proteins,¹⁹⁷ outer-chain glycosylation,²¹⁴ tolerance to salt,²¹⁶ cell shape,²¹⁷ virulence¹⁷² and viability.²¹⁸ The identification of diverse *pmr1* mutant phenotypes in yeast has been invaluable in guiding studies on the role of metazoan SPCA orthologues. Some of these studies will be reviewed below.

4.6.2. RNA Interference

Van Baelen et al. used RNA interference to further clarify the role of SPCA1 in HeLa cells.²¹⁹ Luminal [Ca²⁺] measurements using Golgi-targeted aequorin showed that endogenous SPCA1 was responsible for Ca²⁺ uptake in a subcompartment of the Golgi. Upon knock-down, histamine still induced baseline Ca²⁺ oscillations, indicating that the SPCA1-containing Ca²⁺ store was not needed to set up oscillations. However, the frequency of the Ca²⁺ oscillations was reduced.

SPCA1 seems to be an important component of Ca²⁺ signaling in insulin-secreting cells.²²⁰ Knock-down of SPCA1

partially diminished Ca²⁺ uptake into the ER and in densecore secretory vesicles, increased Ca²⁺ influx through L-type Ca²⁺ channels, and increased the response to glucose. The shape, duration, and decay rate of Ca²⁺ oscillations in response to glucose plus tetraethylammonium were modified.

The same approach in cell lines expressing misfolded proteins revealed defects in protein processing and degradation specifically of glycosylated misfolded proteins. Furthermore, SPCA1 deficiency made cells hypersensitive to ER stress induced by tunicamycin.²²¹

Knock-down of SPCA1 in *C. elegans* rendered the worms highly sensitive to Ca²⁺-deficient and Mn²⁺-enriched conditions and made them resistant to oxidative stress.²¹⁵ These defects are reminiscent of the mutant phenotype observed in yeast, as discussed earlier.

Using a genetically transmissible RNA-interference strategy in *Drosophila*, Southall et al. also showed aberrant Ca²⁺ signaling and abolished neuropeptide-stimulated diuresis in the Malpighian tubes of transgenic flies.¹⁶⁶

Mutations in one copy of the *ATP2A2* gene encoding SERCA2 cause Darier disease in humans.⁹² SPCA1 in the keratinocytes of these patients can compensate for the partial loss of SERCA2 function and is sufficient to blunt the response to raises in extracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$. Knock-down of SPCA1 in these Darier cells therefore resulted in a diminished viability, suggesting that compensatory up-regulation maintains viability.²²²

4.6.3. SPCA1 Mouse Models

The description of the phenotype of *SPCA1^{-/-}* mice by Okunade and co-workers represented a hallmark for the SPCA field.²¹³ Homozygous mutant mice died in utero before gestation day 10.5. They exhibited growth retardation and had an open rostral neural tube. The Golgi membranes were dilated, were expanded in amount, and had fewer stacked leaflets as shown by electron microscopic analysis. Also the number of Golgi-associated vesicles was increased, although processing and trafficking of proteins in the secretory pathway was apparently normal. Apoptosis was increased and a large increase of cytoplasmic lipid was observed, consistent with impaired handling of lipid by the Golgi complex. The authors introduced the concept of Golgi stress to summarize these defects.²¹³

Adult SPCA1 heterozygous mice had an increased incidence of squamous cell tumors of epithelial cells of the skin and esophagus.²¹³ Also SERCA2 heterozygous mice developed such tumors.⁹¹ The development of squamous cell tumors in aged $ATP2A2^{+/-}$ and $ATP2CI^{+/-}$ mice indicates that SERCA2 and SPCA1 haploinsufficiency predisposes murine keratinocytes to neoplasia. The possible links between Ca²⁺-transporting proteins and cancer have been reviewed in detail by Monteith et al.²²³

5. Other Ca²⁺- and Mn²⁺-Transporting P-type ATPases

Transition metals are important enzyme cofactors. High concentrations of redox-active metals like Cu, Zn, and Mn, however, can disturb normal cellular activity and, therefore, be toxic. Besides pumps like SERCAs or PMCAs that only transport Ca²⁺, and pumps like SPCAs that transport Ca²⁺ or Mn²⁺ as their normal physiological metal ion, there exists a large subfamily of P_{1B} ATPases that transport heavy or transition metals (see refs 224 and 225 for excellent reviews).

Also to this subfamily belong the mammalian Cu²⁺-ATPases encoded by the ATP7A and ATP7B genes that, when mutated or inactivated, lead to, respectively, Menkes disease and Wilson disease.²²⁶ Both enzymes transport Cu²⁺ from the cytosol into the secretory pathway, and hence, they serve a dual purpose, i.e., they prevent overload of the cytosol with Cu²⁺ and supply the secretory pathway with a cofactor that is necessary for many enzymes. Whereas Menkes disease is a fatal disorder due to disturbed function of many copperdependent enzymes, Wilson disease represents a form of copper toxicosis with accumulation of toxic levels of the metal in liver and brain.²²⁶ The P_{1B} pumps show eight transmembrane segments, unlike the P_2 pumps that comprise 10 transmembrane segments. They lack the transmembrane segments corresponding to TM7-10 of the P2 pumps but have two additional transmembrane segments at their N-terminus. Characteristically, P₁ pumps also possess additional N- and C-terminal metal-binding domains. Because of the chemical similarities of the transition-metal ions, these pumps can often also transport nonphysiological substrates including Mn²⁺ or even Ca²⁺.²²⁵ Although this subfamily is deeply rooted in the prokaryotic world, many representatives are found in eukaryotes, particularly in plants, where the largest variety of transition-metal pumps is present.^{224,225} These pumps transport Cu⁺, Cu²⁺, Ag⁺, Zn²⁺, Cd²⁺, Co²⁺, and Pb²⁺ and can be subdivided in 6 clusters: P_{1B-1} to P_{1B-6} , which fall into two groups: pumps transporting predominantly Zn²⁺, Cd^{2+} , Pb^{2+} , or Co^{2+} and pumps transporting Cu^+ and/or Ag^+ . In A. thaliana, AtHMA2-4 are thought to be Zn^{2+} transporters whereas AtHMA5-8 would act as Cu⁺-ATPases.²²⁵ AtHMA1 is the most divergent member of the plant P_{1B} ATPases and its normal substrate is uncertain. Besides transporting metals like Zn²⁺, Cu²⁺, Cd²⁺, and Co²⁺, AtHMA1 can also transport Ca2+ with a high apparent affinity (0.37 μ M) and, most remarkably, it is strongly inhibited by thapsigargin (IC₅₀ = 16.7 nM).¹⁵⁰

6. Role of Ca^{2+} and Mn^{2+} in the ER and Golgi Apparatus

Both the SERCAs and the SPCAs actively transport Ca^{2+} into the lumen of the ER and the Golgi apparatus. Realtime [Ca²⁺] measurements in the lumen of these compartments with targeted Ca²⁺-sensing luminescent or fluorescent proteins or with low-affinity fluorescent Ca²⁺ probes are now available.²²⁷ The free resting [Ca²⁺] in the ER is in the range of a few hundred micromolar.^{228,229} This high [Ca²⁺] is preserved in the ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ER-GIC), in the various Golgi subcompartments and *trans*-Golgi network, and finally in the secretory vesicles. Direct [Mn²⁺] measurements in the lumen of the Golgi apparatus are not yet possible. It is likely, however, that this compartment contains a high [Mn²⁺] because its SPCA pumps also transport Mn²⁺. The role of Ca²⁺ and Mn²⁺ in the lumen of these compartments will be reviewed.

6.1. Protein Glycosylation

N-linked glycosylation involves the addition of a core oligosaccharide unit of three glucoses, nine mannoses, and two *N*-acetylglucosamines (Glc₃Man₉GlcNAc₂) to the terminal amino group of asparagine. The core is assembled by glycosyltransferases on a membrane-bound dolichylpyrophosphate and brought by an oligosaccharyltransferase associated with the translocon complex to the growing

polypeptide chain in the ER.²³⁰ The two outermost glucose residues are removed by glucosidase I and II, and the remaining Glc₁Man₉GlcNAc₂ oligosaccharide binds with its terminal glucose and three underlying mannose residues to the lectins calnexin, an integral membrane chaperone, and calreticulin, its soluble luminal counterpart. This binding requires a high [Ca²⁺] and is significantly reduced when Ca²⁺ stores are empty.²³¹ Ca²⁺ also affects the structure of both lectins since its absence is associated with reduced melting temperature and with acquisition of protease sensitivity.²³² The acidic C-terminal region of calreticulin furthermore binds Ca^{2+} with high capacity and is involved in Ca^{2+} storage in the lumen of the ER.^{233,234} Calnexin and calreticulin also form a Ca²⁺-dependent complex with the ERp57 thiol disulfide oxidoreductase²³⁵ and promote disulfide-bond formation of the glycoprotein. Folding and post-translational modification of nonglycosylated proteins involve other Ca²⁺-binding chaperones including endoplasmin, the protein-disulfideisomerase family of proteins (PDI, ERp72), and BiP.²³¹ Ca²⁺ also promotes folding by weakening electrostatic interactions and amplifying van der Waals interactions,²³⁶ and by promoting subunit assembly and proteolytic clipping.²³⁷ The glycoprotein is then released from calnexin/calreticulin, and subsequent cleavage of the innermost glucose by glucosidase II prevents further interaction with calnexin/calreticulin.²³⁸ Incompletely folded glycoproteins are reglucosylated by a glucosyltransferase and enter another round of calnexin/ calreticulin binding and disulfide-bond formation.²³⁹ UDPglucose (UDP, uridine diphosphate), the substrate for reglucosylation, enters the ER lumen via an UDP-glucose/UMPexchanger. UMP (uridine monophosphate) is produced from UDP generated by the glucosyltransferase by either a soluble UDPase requiring Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , or Mn^{2+} , or a membrane-associated UDPase requiring only Ca^{2+} . The remaining Man₉GlcNAc₂ chain in the completely folded glycoprotein is then trimmed to Man₈GlcNAc₂ by an ER-specific mannosidase with a coordinated Ca^{2+} that is essential for its activity.240,241 The glycoprotein then goes to the Golgi compartment in a process assisted by mannose-binding lectins. Mannosidases in the Golgi apparatus further shorten the glycan chain to Man₅GlcNAc₂. One N-acetylglucosamine is then added, two additional mannoses are removed, and a new terminal sugar is added by various glycosyltransferases.

O-linked glycosylation of the mucin type, which is the most abundant form in higher eukaryotes, is characterized by the binding of N-acetylgalactosamine to the hydroxyl group of a serine/threonine residue on a target protein. In contrast to N-linked glycosylation, O-linked glycosylation does not begin with the transfer of an oligosaccharide from a dolichol precursor, but with the addition of a single N-acetylgalactosamine by polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferases.^{242,243} The type of enzyme determines whether Olinked glycosylation is initiated in subregions of the ER, in the ERGIC, or in the various Golgi subcompartments. Subsequent elongation of this structure by downstream glycosyltransferases yields an array of eight distinct "core" glycans that can be further modified by many of the glycosyltransferases resident in the Golgi. Some specific types of O-glycosylation deviate from the common mucintype pathway, e.g., the O-linked binding of fucose and glucose to epidermal growth factor homology regions in several proteins,²⁴⁴ and of galactose to hydroxylysine in collagen.²⁴⁵ Another type of *O*-linked glycosylation is the addition of N-acetylglucosamine to serines and threonines

of cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins, which represents a reversible regulatory modification. $^{\rm 246,247}$

Glycosyltransferases transfer a monosaccharide from an activated sugar donor to the hydroxyl group of another sugar, an amino acid, or a lipid.²⁴⁸ Glucose, galactose, N-acetylglucosamine, N-acetylgalactosamine, arabinose, glucuronic acid, galacturonic acid, and xylose are activated as UDPderivatives; mannose and fucose are activated as GDPderivatives; and sialic acid is activated as a CMP-derivative (GDP, guanosine diphosphate); (CMP, cytidine monophosphate).²⁴⁹ The length of their hydrophobic membranespanning region fits with the thickness of the Golgi membrane and, therefore, keeps most of these enzymes anchored in the Golgi compartment, but also other mechanisms are involved.²⁵⁰ Many glycosyltransferases require Mn²⁺ for activity.²⁵¹ Examples include galactosyltransferases,^{252,253} *N*-acetylglucosaminyltransferases,²⁵⁴ mannosyltransferases,²⁵⁵ glucuronyltransferases,²⁵⁶ arabinofuranosyltransferases,²⁵⁷ some fucosyltransferase-family members,^{258,259} and *N*-acetylgalac-tosaminyltransferases.²⁶⁰ In glycosyltransferases of the A superfamily,²⁶¹ which includes most of the enzymes found in the ER and Golgi apparatus, Mn²⁺ interacts with one or both acidic residues of a three-residue D-x-D, E-x-D, or equivalent motif.^{249,253,262,263} Glycosyltransferases of the B superfamily do not have this motif and do not need Mn^{2+} for activity.^{249,262,264} However, some enzymes of the A superfamily lack the D-x-D or E-x-D motif and do not require Mn^{2+} , while some enzymes of the B superfamily do require Mn^{2+} .²⁴⁹ Structural studies on several of these enzymes revealed that the sequential binding of Mn²⁺, if required for catalysis, and the sugar-nucleotide results in a conformational change that creates the acceptor-binding site. After sugar transfer, the product is ejected from the binding site, after which the enzyme reverts to the open conformation, facilitating release of the UDP-metal complex.²⁴⁹

We mentioned earlier that SPCA-type pumps play an important role in the accumulation of Ca²⁺ and Mn²⁺ into the Golgi apparatus. Down-regulation of SPCAs therefore interferes with glycosylation. FRT-thyroglobulin cells treated with SPCA1 siRNA show defects in *N*-linked glycosylation of newly synthesized thyroglobulin.²²¹ *pmr1* mutants of *S. cerevisiae* secrete defective *N*-linked glycosylated invertase,^{197,214} deficient *O*-glycosylated chitinase,²⁶⁵ and a nonglycosylated variant of human plasminogen activator,¹⁶⁰ and are defective in carbohydrate trimming of Man₉GlcNAc₂ to Man₈GlcNAc₂.²⁶⁶ Disruption of Pmr1 in *C. albicans* also results in *N*- and *O*-linked-glycosylation defects.¹⁷² Pmr1 disruption in *P. pastoris* results in the secretion of a human serum albumin/interferon- α 2b fusion protein with incomplete disulfide-bridge pairing.²⁶⁷

6.2. ER-Associated Degradation

Polypeptides that fail to acquire their native structure are eventually removed by ER-associated degradation (ERAD). They return to the cytosol in a process possibly mediated by EDEM (ER-degradation enhancing α -mannosidase-like protein) and Derlin, for ubiquitination and degradation by the proteasome.

Luminal Ca²⁺ and/or Mn²⁺ are involved in ERAD. Cells that overexpress the misfolded "cog" mutant of thyroglobulin show a major defect in ERAD of this protein when treated with siRNA against SPCA1.²²¹ *pmr1* mutants of *S. cerevisiae* are defective in the degradation of the misfolded carboxypeptidase-Y glycoprotein.^{265,266} The ERAD defect after Pmr1 knock-down only applies to glycosylated proteins and not to nonglycosylated proteins and is correlated with defective trimming of the Man₉GlcNAc₂ chain to Man₈GlcNAc₂²⁶⁶ There are various explanations why Pmr1 in the Golgi complex may affect the ER-localized ERAD. *First*, Ca^{2+} can be transported from the Golgi apparatus to the ER via COPI-coated vesicles involved in Golgi-ER retrograde transport.²⁶⁸ However, ER Ca²⁺ uptake proceeds unperturbed after a block in Golgi-to-ER retrograde transport.²⁶⁹ Second, since Pmr1 is first synthesized in the ER, it could exert its function before being transported to the Golgi apparatus.²⁶⁵ ER $[Ca^{2+}]$ measurements revealed that a fraction of Pmr1 in S. cerevisiae is indeed retained in the ER,²⁶⁹ and subcellular fractionation experiments in S. cerevisiae consistently found a small fraction of Pmr1 associated with ER markers.^{197,209} Furthermore, GFP-tagged Pmr1 in S. pombe appears to be localized predominantly in the ER rather than in the Golgi apparatus.²¹⁷ Since hemagglutinin-tagged Pmr1 was localized in the Golgi and GFP-tagged Pmr1 was localized in the ER under certain experimental conditions, it is possible that Pmr1 may be mislocalized or may accumulate in the ER owing to GFP tagging. Third, a retrotransport of the Golgi misfolded proteins themselves back to the ERAD machinery of the ER may also explain why Pmr1 in the Golgi complex affects the ER-localized ERAD.

6.3. Sulfatation

Golgi-resident sulfotransferases transfer a sulfate group from 3'-phosphoadenosine 5'-phosphosulfate (PAPS) to a tyrosine residue in a protein or to an alcohol or amino group in glycoconjugates.²⁷⁰ Mn²⁺ enhances the activity of tyrosylproteinsulfotransferases^{271,272} and carbohydrate sulfotransferases.^{273–275} Some sulfotransferases acting on mucins have a tissue distribution restricted to the lung²⁷⁶ or the small intestine and colon,²⁷⁷ i.e., tissues rich in mucin-secreting cells. Interestingly, this distribution correlates with the expression pattern of SPCA2 and with the relatively higher expression levels of SPCA1.

6.4. Proteolytic Processing

The biosynthesis of peptide hormones often begins with mRNA translation into a large, inactive precursor polypeptide. Proteolytic processing then involves the action of proprotein/prohormone convertases in the *trans*-Golgi network and in the regulated and constitutive secretory pathways.²⁷⁸ This family of serine endoproteases includes furin, prohormone convertase 1, prohormone convertase 2, and many others.

The proprotein/prohormone convertases are synthesized as inactive zymogens because their catalytic domain is blocked by their N-terminus. Furin activation requires a first cleavage of this N-terminal inhibitory peptide in the ER and a second cleavage in the *trans*-Golgi network requiring millimolar $[Ca^{2+}]$ and an acidic pH.²⁷⁹ Propeptide cleavage in the prohormone convertase 1, in contrast, requires only micromolar $[Ca^{2+}]$.²⁷⁹ Once activated, the proprotein/prohormone convertases cycle between the *trans*-Golgi network, the cell surface, and the endosomal compartments.

The reported crystal structures of several proprotein/ prohormone convertases revealed two Ca^{2+} -binding domains. One site is important for the structural stability of the protease; the other one is important for the structure of the active site. $^{280-282}$ The various convertases seem to differ in the Ca^{2+} requirement for optimal activity. $^{283-286}$

pmr1 mutants of *S. cerevisiae* show an impaired proteolytic processing of pro-alpha factor. This phenotype may reflect a reduction in the activity of Kex2, a Ca^{2+} -dependent Golgi-localized endoprotease.¹⁹⁷

6.5. Trafficking

Ca²⁺ is needed for the transport among the various compartments. Some of these effects occur from the lumen of these compartments. Cells of *SPCA1^{-/-}* mouse embryos have more dense vesicles on the *cis*-side of the Golgi, suggesting that trafficking of vesicles between the ER and the Golgi apparatus is affected.²¹³ Inhibition of SERCA-dependent Ca²⁺ uptake with thapsigargin blocks both the anterograde²⁸⁷ and retrograde transport between the ER and the Golgi apparatus.²⁸⁸ ERGIC-53 in the ERGIC compartment, which recycles between the Golgi apparatus and the ER, is a Ca²⁺-dependent lectin.²⁸⁹ The cation-dependent mannose-6-phosphate receptor, a component of the lysosomal targeting system, contains a carbohydrate-binding site in which Mn²⁺ interacts with the phosphate group of mannose-6-phosphate.²⁹⁰

Stored Ca²⁺ may also affect transport after being first released. Anterograde and retrograde transport of cargo between the Golgi stacks was more efficiently blocked by the fast Ca²⁺ buffer BAPTA than by the slow Ca²⁺ buffer EGTA, suggesting that Ca²⁺ may be delivered locally, perhaps via constant leakage from the Golgi complex itself.^{70,291–293} Ca²⁺ in secretory vesicles may be the source of Ca²⁺ for creating a specific Ca²⁺ microdomain that controls granule motion and exocytosis.^{294,295}

Disruption of Pmr1 in yeast often results in enhanced protein secretion. Null mutations in the PMR1 gene in S. cerevisiae disrupted the sorting and retention of heterologous secretory proteins normally destined for degradation in the lysosome, resulting in an enhanced secretion of, e.g., prochymosin, a bovine growth hormone, and a nonglycosylated variant of human urinary plasminogen activator.^{160,197,214} Disruption of Pmr1 in S. cerevisiae and H. polymorpha disrupted the sorting of carboxypeptidase Y from the late Golgi compartments to the vacuole, resulting in an enhanced secretion of this protein in the culture medium.^{218,265} Disruption of Pmr1 in H. polymorpha decreased intracellular aggregation of human urokinase and enhanced its secretion.²¹⁸ Disruption of Pmr1 in K. lactis led to enhanced secretion of acid phosphatase, recombinant human serum albumin, and α -glucoamylase as a result of increased translation and/or secretion efficiency.²⁹⁶ For biotechnologists, PMR1-gene disruption, e.g., in P. pastoris, can become an effective strategy to increase the secretion capacity of heterologous proteins during large-scale fermentation for commercial protein production.²⁹⁷ Mutants of ECA3, a Golgilocalized Ca²⁺,Mn²⁺-ATPase in A. thaliana, secreted more total protein and exhibited more peroxidase activity than wild-type plants, indicating that perturbation of Ca²⁺ and/or Mn²⁺ homeostasis in the stores perturbs protein secretion.^{14,298}

The effect of disruption of the yeast Pmr1 on protein secretion depends on the marker protein analyzed. Disruption of the *PMR1* gene in *S. cerevisiae* resulted in the expected increased secretion of bovine prochymosin, while that of the plant protein thaumatin could not be improved to any significant extent.²⁹⁹ Such various responses were also observed in *Y. lipolytica.*³⁰⁰ The secretion of 32 kDa mature

alkaline extracellular protease decreased, while incompletely processed 52 and 36 kDa precursors were secreted. Also, very low levels of rice α -amylase secretion were observed, probably because the decreased luminal [Ca²⁺] interfered with the stabilization of the tertiary structure of the enzyme. The secretion of *Trichoderma reesei* endoglucanase I was not influenced.

6.6. Milk Production

Synthesis of lactose, the sugar in milk, involves the interaction of β -1,4-galactosyltransferase 1 with α -lactalbumin to form the lactose-synthase complex that transfers galactose from UDP-galactose to glucose.³⁰¹ β -1,4-galactosyltransferase 1 is a trans-Golgi enzyme that becomes upregulated during lactation.³⁰² α -Lactalbumin is only expressed in the mammary gland and more specifically during lactation.³⁰³ Lactose synthesis follows a sequentially ordered mechanism in which Mn^{2+} binding to β -1,4-galactosyltransferase is followed by UDP-galactose binding, which creates a stable complex to which α -lactal burnin and glucose bind. After catalysis, α -lactalbumin and lactose are released, followed by a conformational change and the release of Mn²⁺ and UDP.³⁰¹ Lactose accumulates within the lumen of the Golgi membranes and comes into the milk by exocytosis from secretory vesicles derived from the Golgi apparatus. The galactosyltransferase is also secreted during this process.

Casein is an important milk protein. Its phosphorylation allows Ca²⁺ binding and cross-linking of casein polypeptides by calcium phosphate, which is essential for the formation and stability of the typical casein-micelle structure.³⁰⁴ Casein is phosphorylated in the lumen of the Golgi apparatus. The responsible casein kinase specifically recognizes the consensus sequence S-x-E/pS, which differs from the consensus sequences of either casein kinase 1 (pS-x-x-S/T) or casein kinase 2 (S/T-x-x-E/D/pS), which are also designated casein kinases because their enzymatic activity has been initially detected using casein as a substrate. The molecular identity of the Golgi casein kinase has not yet been fully elucidated.^{305,306} The Golgi casein kinase is expressed not only in the mammary gland but also in the liver and endocrine cells^{307,308} and represents a pleiotropic kinase phosphorylating a wide diversity of secreted proteins. Casein phosphorylation mediated by casein kinase in vitro^{309,310} is stimulated by Ca²⁺ and more effectively by Mn²⁺. Ca²⁺ depletion of intact acini with a Ca^{2+} ionophore had no effect on an early stage of casein phosphorylation but partially inhibited a later phase.³¹¹ Ionomycin however works suboptimally in acidic compartments, so the possibility remains that, in these experiments, the downstream Golgi compartments contained some residual Ca^{2+} .

Ca²⁺ in milk is needed for the rapid calcification of bones and teeth of the neonate.³¹² The total milk [Ca²⁺] exceeds 60 mM in rapidly growing species like mice and rats. Human breast milk³¹³ contains around 12 mM Ca²⁺. It had been traditionally thought that all Ca²⁺ entered the milk through the Golgi pathway, where it was packaged with caseins, phosphate, citrate, and other Ca²⁺-binding molecules and released into the milk by exocytosis of secretory vesicles.^{312,314} We now know that PMCA expression increases dramatically during lactation in rat mammary tissue,³¹⁵ that mammary PMCA is primarily PMCA2b, and that PMCA2-null mice produce milk containing 60% less Ca²⁺ than wild-type mice.³¹⁶ PMCA2 is expressed in the apical membrane of secretory mammary epithelial cells during lactation and may play a role in enriching milk with Ca²⁺. The ER lumen could offer a route for long-range Ca²⁺ propagation across the epithelial cell. Ca²⁺ travels through the ER lumen much more easily than through the cytosol.^{317–319} The relative ease with which Ca2+ moves in the ER lumen and in the cytosol depends on the nature of the Ca²⁺ buffers in these two compartments, their relative mobilities, and the $[Ca^{2+}]$.^{320,321} Ca²⁺ in the cytosol binds to numerous high-affinity Ca²⁺binding proteins (e.g., calmodulin) and other molecules (e.g., ATP). The much lower affinity of intra-ER Ca²⁺ buffers in conjunction with the much higher luminal [Ca²⁺] results in substantially higher Ca²⁺-diffusion rates within the ER. Also, Ca²⁺ uptake by organelles (e.g., mitochondria) can contribute to the slower rate of diffusion in the cytosol. Intraluminal Ca²⁺ tunneling may occur in the lactating mammary gland as well. It is in this respect important that SERCA becomes up-regulated during pregnancy in the rat and mouse mammary gland.^{322,323} If organellar Ca²⁺-release channels would be preferentially localized in the apical zone, then Ca²⁺ would be released near the luminal surface of the cell in close proximity to the PMCA2 Ca²⁺ pumps. Energy-dispersive analytical X-ray scanning electron microscopy indeed revealed that the apical region of lactating rat mammary epithelial cells contains 4- to 5-fold more Ca²⁺ than other parts of the cell.³²⁴ This area includes the Golgi apparatus and secretory vacuoles containing dense granules or casein micelles binding Ca^{2+} .

Both SPCA1 and SPCA2 are expressed in the Golgi apparatus of the lactating mammary gland.^{205,315,325} SPCA2 levels increase over 15- to 35-fold during lactation, while SPCA1 increases only a modest 2- to 5-fold.^{204,323} The upregulation of SPCA2 during midpregnancy is likely to be hormonally regulated because SPCA2 transcription is increased by prolactin in human MCF-7 breast-cancer cells.³²⁶ SPCA2 is only expressed in acinar cells, while SPCA1 as a housekeeping enzyme is also present outside the acini.²⁰⁴ Excessive prepartum up-regulation of SPCA1 in cows may cause milk fever,³²⁷ a metabolic condition characterized by a low plasma [Ca²⁺]. SPCA1, SPCA2, and also PMCA2 expressions decline by 80–95% within 24 h of the start of mammary involution.³²⁸

6.7. TOR Signaling

TOR (target of rapamycin) is a highly conserved protein kinase that controls cell growth in response to nutrients. TOR in S. cerevisiae is found in two structurally and functionally distinct multiprotein complexes, TOR complexes 1 and 2. TOR proteins require Mn²⁺ as a cofactor for maximal activity.329 Pmr1-dependent Mn2+ uptake into the Golgi apparatus inhibits TOR1 signaling.^{330,331} Mn²⁺ indeed acted from the lumen of this compartment since the phenotype induced by loss of Pmr1 could be rescued by overexpression of Ccc1, a Mn²⁺ transporter localized to the Golgi and the vacuole. It is unclear, however, how luminal Mn²⁺ exerts its inhibitory action, since TOR1 is not found inside the Golgi.³³² It has been suggested that luminal Mn²⁺ may affect downstream effectors of TOR signaling, e.g., the sorting of nutrient permeases to the plasma membrane via Mn²⁺dependent mannosylation of sphingolipids.³³⁰

6.8. Regulation of Ca²⁺-Transport Proteins

The sensitivity of Ca^{2+} release from muscle $SR^{333,334}$ and from neuronal ER is increased by its luminal Ca^{2+} load,

suggesting that modulation of Ca^{2+} signaling by luminal $[Ca^{2+}]$ is a general phenomenon.²²⁷ Both types of Ca^{2+} release channels, the RyR and the myo-inositol-1,4,5trisphosphate receptor (IP₃R), are regulated by the luminal [Ca²⁺]. The open probability of RyRs incorporated into lipid bilayers increases if Ca²⁺ on the luminal side of the channel is elevated.³³⁵⁻³³⁸ This stimulation could involve a Ca²⁺binding site on the luminal side of the channel^{339,340} or occur via the Ca²⁺-binding protein calsequestrin in complex with triadin 1 and junctin, since calsequestrin inhibits the RyR at low but not high luminal [Ca²⁺].^{341,342} Effects of luminal Ca²⁺ may also be due to Ca²⁺ passing through the channel and acting at the stimulatory cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ site.³⁴³⁻³⁴⁵ Luminal Ca²⁺-dependent changes in RyR2 gating are involved in Ca²⁺-release termination and release refractoriness, processes essential for, e.g., normal rhythmic activity of the heart.346

The sensitivity of IP₃Rs to IP₃ is increased by a high luminal $[Ca^{2+}]$ in some studies, ^{347–351} but not in others.^{352–354} It is unclear whether this control operates over the physiological range of luminal [Ca²⁺], since stores have to be extensively depleted before IP3R sensitivity changes.355-358 In contrast, single-channel IP₃R activity in planar lipid bilayers increased instead of decreased when $[Ca^{2+}]$ at the luminal side of the channel declined,³⁵⁹ but the divalentcation-current carriers could have interacted with potential Ca²⁺-binding sites on the luminal face of the receptor.³⁶⁰ The effect of luminal [Ca²⁺] on IP₃R activity might, just like for the RyR, arise from an interaction of released Ca²⁺ with cytosolic Ca2+-binding sites.361-363 Ca2+ may also act, however, from the lumen via the luminal Ca²⁺-binding site³⁶⁴ or via associated proteins. ERp44 protein-disulfide isomerase interacts with IP₃R1 in the ER lumen and inhibits channel activity.³⁶⁵ The interaction between ERp44 and IP₃R1 becomes stronger at lower levels of store loading, and this could explain the inhibition of IP₃-induced Ca²⁺ release under these conditions.

Influx of extracellular Ca^{2+} into cells can be induced by depleting intracellular Ca^{2+} stores, a process referred to as capacitative or store-operated Ca^{2+} entry.³⁶⁶ The STIM (stromal interaction molecule) proteins are believed to sense the Ca^{2+} content of the intracellular stores.^{367,368} Upon store depletion, STIM1 redistributes within the ER approaching the plasma membrane and either directly or indirectly signals to plasma-membrane Orai proteins (or CRACMs), which represent an entirely new family of highly Ca^{2+} -selective Ca^{2+} -influx channels.^{369,370} This process has been reviewed extensively^{371,372} and will not be further considered here.

7. Mn²⁺ Toxicity

 Mn^{2+} is abundantly present in the environment, but organisms appear to actively limit the concentration of this element in their bodies. However, Mn^{2+} is essential for a variety of cellular functions in mammals, some of which were described above (section 6). The small amounts of Mn^{2+} we need can easily be obtained via our diet, mainly from fruits and vegetables. Mn^{2+} deficiency, therefore, is rare in humans and only occurs in self-selected diets. Mn^{2+} deficiency causes alterations in bone metabolism³⁷³ and susceptibility to epilepsy.³⁷⁴ Conversely, excess of Mn^{2+} causes a Parkinson's disease-like syndrome known as Manganism.³⁷⁵ Mn^{2+} can enter the body via two possible routes: (1) via the diet or (2) absorption through the respiratory and olfactory mucosa. The amount of Mn^{2+} in the diet is several orders of magnitude higher than the physiological need. However, since the amount absorbed through the gut is much lower, intoxication via the food is seldomly observed. Instead, in the case of Mn²⁺ intoxication, absorption through the respiratory system appears to be the main entrance pathway into the body. Often this occurs via occupational overexposure and chronic inhalation of airborne Mn²⁺ affecting miners, steel workers, welders, and workers in alkaline-battery production.³⁷⁶ Also, environmental exposure to pesticides³⁷⁷ containing Mn²⁺ or to combustion of fuel with methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl (MMT) additives^{377,378} increases the population at risk for intoxication.

The liver is the main organ involved in the detoxification of Mn^{2+} via biliary excretion. Hence, liver damage as occurs in cirrhosis (by alcohol abuse or primary biliary cirrhosis) reduces Mn^{2+} elimination. Thus, there is often a correlation between liver diseases, Mn^{2+} accumulation in the brain, and encephalopathy.³⁷⁹ Similarly, long-term parenteral nutrition can also result in Mn^{2+} toxicity, also causing neurological disorders, since Mn^{2+} bypasses the gut and liver control mechanisms via this route.³⁸⁰

The selective retention and slower elimination of Mn^{2+} in the brain in comparison with other tissues make the central nervous system the major target of Mn^{2+} poisoning. We will focus, therefore, on Mn^{2+} neurotoxicity.

7.1. Mn²⁺ Toxicity in the Brain

In contrast to Ca^{2+} , Mn^{2+} homeostasis in the brain is poorly understood. Most of the Mn²⁺ in the blood is bound to albumin, and only a small fraction exists as the free, hydrated ion.³⁸¹ Blood Mn²⁺ can be oxidized to Mn³⁺, which is more toxic and reactive and immediately binds to transferrin. 382 Both Mn^{2+} and Mn^{3+} forms can cross the blood-brain and blood-cerebrospinal fluid barriers via transepithelial transport. Different mechanisms have been suggested to mediate the Mn²⁺ uptake into the barrier cells: Ca^{2+} channels,³⁸³ Na⁺/Ca²⁺-exchangers,³⁸⁴ or the divalent-metal transporter 1 (DMT1).³⁸⁵ Mn³⁺ bound to transferrin is taken up by transferrin receptor-mediated endocytosis.386 DMT1 is highly expressed in brain,³⁸⁷ and an increase in expression has been reported after exposure to excess Mn²⁺. However, none of these transporters are specific Mn²⁺ transporters. Even less is known regarding the mechanism by which Mn^{2+} again leaves the cells of the capillary endothelium or the choroid endothelium, nor regarding the mechanisms of Mn^{2+} elimination from neurons or glial cells. With respect to this, it is clear that SPCA can switch from transport of Ca²⁺ to transport of Mn²⁺. In vitro assays of SPCA-dependent Ca²⁺ transport in systems overexpressing SPCA^{177,198} and in neural membrane vesicles derived from pig and mouse^{208,388} show a competition between Ca²⁺ and Mn²⁺ for transport. Therefore, it can be hypothesized that, like in S. cerevisiae, in neurons SPCA can pump excess cytosolic Mn²⁺ into the Golgi complex for its removal via the secretory pathway.^{186,389} SPCA is the only known ATPase in animals that can transport Mn²⁺ with high affinity.^{165,198} In rat brain it is prominently up-regulated following Mn²⁺ exposure.³⁹⁰ In plants, the ECA3 Ca^{2+} ,Mn²⁺-ATPase also plays a role in Mn²⁺ detoxification,²⁹⁸ since *eca3* mutants are sensitive to high Mn^{2+} . It should be noted that removal of excess copper from the cell also occurs via the secretory pathway by a copper-transporting P-type ATPase located in the trans-Golgi network of hepatocytes. As discussed already in section 5, malfunction of this pump results in a copper



Figure 6. Distribution of SPCA1 in the adult mouse cerebellum. (A) Localization of SPCA1 (red) and synaptophysin (green) in the cerebellar cortex. (B) Distribution of SPCA1 (red) and the glial marker GFAP (green) in the choroid plexus of the fourth ventricle. Nuclei are visualized with Dapi staining (blue). Scale bars: (A) $15 \,\mu$ m; (B) $35 \,\mu$ m. More details can be found in manuscript by Sepulveda et al. in ref 388.

toxicosis known as Wilson disease.³⁹¹ The *ATP2C2* gene encoding SPCA2 has been excluded as the affected gene in a rare extrapyramidal motor disorder with accompanying hypermanganesaemia,³⁹² but unfortunately the authors did not include in their analysis the *ATP2C1* gene encoding the far more abundantly expressed neural SPCA1 isoform.

Manganism patients suffer from nervous-system dysfunction with alteration in motor coordination, memory loss, and psychological changes, as well as from fertility problems.³⁷⁵ In the human brain, Mn^{2+} accumulates mainly in the basal ganglia.³⁹³ Mn^{2+} accumulation can be traced by magnetic resonance imaging since Mn^{2+} is a potent T_1 -shortening agent that causes contrast enhancement in T_1 -weighted MRI images.³⁹⁴ Thus, there is a correlation between the MRIassociated T_1 -relaxation time and Mn^{2+} depositions.

The link between Mn²⁺ accumulation and neurodegeneration is still unclear. It has been reported that high levels of Mn²⁺ can inhibit tyrosine hydroxylation affecting dopamine synthesis,375 interfere with Mg2+-binding sites in many proteins,395,396 alter iron homeostasis associated with neural oxidative damage,^{397,398} and affect synaptic transmission by enhancing the release of neurotransmitters.^{383,399} Mn²⁺ is also a cofactor of a number of key enzymes in the brain such as superoxide dismutase or glutamine synthetase, which are important, respectively, for countering oxidative stress and glutamate excitotoxicity,^{400,401} i.e., additional causative factors of neural dysfunction. Therefore, increased cytoplasmic [Mn²⁺] in astrocytes can in turn disrupt the activity of Mn²⁺sensitive enzymes such as glutamine synthetase.⁴⁰² Manganism symptoms can persist even several years after cessation of Mn²⁺ exposure.⁴⁰³ Chelation therapy with ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), which forms stable chelates with metal ions that are subsequently excreted via the urine, and supplementation with levodopa (a drug for Parkinson's disease) are the current treatments.^{392,404} However, these strategies show only limited benefits.

 Mn^{2+} metabolism is also altered in other neuropathologies. Elevated blood [Mn^{2+}] was reported as a potential diagnostic marker for prion infection even before the onset of symptoms in scrapie and bovine spongiform encephalopathy.⁴⁰⁵ In fact, Mn^{2+} binding to prion protein can potentiate the rate of prionprotein conversion to the abnormal isoform.⁴⁰⁶

Taking in account that neural cells require Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ ions for many different neural activities, including neural development, neural plasticity, and synaptic transmission, and that these ions also seem involved in aging, neurodegeneration, or apoptosis,^{407,408} it is very important to understand

the regulation of the cytoplasmic and luminal $[Ca^{2+}]$ and $[Mn^{2+}]$ in nerve cells. We will focus, therefore, on the role of ion pumps in these processes.

7.2. SERCAs and SPCAs in the Brain

7.2.1. Localization

SERCA2b represents the main SERCA isoform in the principal large neural cells (e.g., pyramidal cells of cerebral cortex and hippocampus, and cerebellar Purkinje cells) in different species. SERCA2b is localized in the ER of the soma and the dendritic arborization, ranging from primary dendrites to spiny branchlets.^{409–412} Although other isoforms like SERCA2a^{410,413–415} and SERCA3⁴¹⁶ have been found in Purkinje-cell bodies in a few species, they are weakly expressed in the other brain regions, if present at all. With respect to the SPCAs, the housekeeping SPCA1 constitutes the main isoform in nervous tissue. Neurons typically contain a more fragmented Golgi apparatus with several stacks distributed over the cell body that all contain SPCA1208,388,417 (Figure 6A). The expression of SPCA2 in brain is less wellcharacterized, but its expression seems to be lower and less widespread than that of SPCA1.^{176,177}

Although SPCA1 expression has been reported in different glial cultures,⁴¹⁷ present efforts to demonstrate SPCA- or SERCA-pump expression in glial cells in nervous tissue remained unsuccessful.^{208,388,410} This is surprising since glial cells can be expected to tightly control Mn^{2+} homeostasis. Glial cells express the Mn^{2+} -requiring enzyme glutamine synthetase. It has been reported that glutamine synthetase-bound Mn^{2+} accounts for ~80% of the total Mn^{2+} content in the brain.⁴⁰⁰ Glutamine synthetase is involved in the detoxification of brain ammonia and in the metabolic removal of the neurotransmitter glutamate.

SERCA2b and SPCA1 pumps have also been found in the epithelial cells of the choroid plexus (Figure 6B).^{388,412} These cells are involved in the production and secretion of the cerebrospinal fluid that mechanically protects the brain and in which the $[Ca^{2+}]$ is strictly regulated in ref 388

7.2.2. Function

Both SERCAs and SPCAs contribute to the Ca²⁺-ATPase activity of microsomal membranes isolated from nervous tissue of different species.^{196,208,388} SERCA activity appears to be involved in the regulation of the cytosolic [Ca²⁺] in postsynaptic areas such as dendritic arborization.⁴¹⁹ SPCA

activity could be more focused on Ca2+- and Mn2+-dependent activities involved in the processing and trafficking of new proteins and membranes in the Golgi apparatus,⁴²⁰ with special relevance during neural development. Brain development, including migration and functional maturation of neural precursors, as well as growth in size and complexity, have all been linked to the ontogeny of Ca²⁺ homeostasis.⁴²¹ Consequently, SERCAs and SPCAs are functionally upregulated during development^{388,412} and are related to the maturation of specific neuronal types and the establishment of synaptic connections. The embryonic lethality of SP- $CA1^{-/-}$ mice with abnormalities in the neural tube, growth retardation and Golgi stress,²¹³ suggests a specific role of SPCA1 in neural development. In fact, Mn²⁺ is an essential ion for normal prenatal and neonatal development of brain function as well as for the skeleton and the inner ear.⁴²²

Just like alterations in Mn²⁺ metabolism cause drastic effects in the nervous system (described above), also Ca²⁺ homeostasis is affected in many neurological disorders. Several ER- or Golgi-resident proteins subjected to Ca²⁺dependent processing such as presenilins, 423,424 or their corresponding processing enzymes like proprotein/prohormone convertases⁴²⁴ or secretases,⁴²⁵ are critically involved in neuropathologies like Alzheimer's disease. A variety of mechanisms including Ca²⁺ dysregulation cause fragmentation of the Golgi complex as one of the earliest and probably irreversible steps of neurodegeneration in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Alzheimer's disease, Creutzfeldt-Jacob disease, and spinocerebellar ataxia.426 Also, Darier-disease patients lacking a functional copy of the SERCA2 gene are prone to develop neuropsychiatric disorders.427 There are many excellent reviews on all these topics.^{428,429} Thus, Ca²⁺ pumps should be considered as interventional targets for these neuropathologies with Ca²⁺ dysregulation.

Box 1. Genetic Diseases Involving SERCAs and SPCA

Brody myopathy (OMIM 601003) can be an autosomalrecessive disorder caused by mutations in the ATP2A1 gene encoding SERCA1 in fast-twitch skeletal muscle. Patients suffer from painless muscle cramping and exercise-induced impairment of muscle relaxation.⁴³⁰ The mutations may affect the splice donor site of intron 3 or give rise to premature stop codons resulting in a truncated protein.^{61,431,432} Mutations in the ATP2A1 gene similarly cause congenital pseudomyotonia in Chianina cattle,⁶² with a lifelong history of exerciseinduced muscle contracture, preventing animals from performing more intense muscular activities than a simple walk at a slow pace. Mutations in the ATP2A1 gene also lead to congenital muscular dystonia 1 in Belgian Blue cattle.63 Affected calves show impaired swallowing, fatigue upon stimulation or exercise, and muscle myotonia resulting in injurious falling and an inability to flex limbs. They usually die within a few weeks.

Darier disease (OMIM 124200) is an autosomal-dominant skin disease caused by missense mutations affecting one copy of the ATP2A2 gene encoding SERCA2.⁹² It is characterized clinically by warty papules and plaques in seborrheic areas (central trunk, flexures, scalp, and forehead), palmoplantar pits, and distinctive nail abnormalities. Histological examination shows a focal loss of adhesion between epidermal cells (acantholeysis) and an abnormal keratinization.

Hailey-Hailey disease (OMIM 169600) is an autosomaldominant skin disease caused by the loss of one functional copy of the ATP2C1 gene encoding SPCA1.162,163 It is characterized by recurrent blisters and erosions in the flexural areas.433 Histological examination shows numerous acantholeytic cells and a suprabasal type of blister formation.

8. Conclusions

We have reviewed the phylogeny, mechanism, regulation, and properties of the SERCA and SPCA pumps. We begin to understand their role in the Ca²⁺ and Mn²⁺ homeostasis in the ER, Golgi apparatus, and downstream secretory pathway. This role seems to be crucial for normal cell physiology, since mutations in SERCA1, SERCA2, and SPCA1 cause, respectively, Brody disease, Darier disease, and Hailey-Hailey disease.

9. Acknowledgments

P.V. and J.V. are Postdoctoral Fellows of the Fonds voor Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek (F.W.O.)-Vlaanderen (Research Foundation-Flanders). M.R.S. received a Visiting Postdoctoral Fellowship of the K.U.Leuven. This work was also supported by the Interuniversity Attraction Poles Program, Belgian Science Policy IUAP P6/28, and by the F.W.O.-Vlaanderen G.0166.04 (to F.W.) and G.0382.05 (to L.M.).

10. References

- (1) Berridge, M. J. Nature 1993, 361, 315.
- (2) Moller, J. V.; Juul, B.; le Maire, M. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1996, 1286, 1.
- (3) Axelsen, K. B.; Palmgren, M. G. J. Mol. Evol. 1998, 46, 84.
- (4) Palmgren, M. G.; Axelsen, K. B. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1998, 1365, 37
- (5) De Hertogh, B.; Lantin, A. C.; Baret, P. V.; Goffeau, A. J. Bioenergy Biomembr. 2004, 36, 135.
- (6) Rice, W. J.; MacLennan, D. H. J. Biol. Chem. 1996, 271, 31412.
- Toyoshima, C.; Nakasako, M.; Nomura, H.; Ogawa, H. Nature 2000, (7)405, 647.
- (8) Dominguez, D. C. Mol. Microbiol. 2004, 54, 291.
- (9) Naseem, R.; Holland, I. B.; Jacq, A.; Wann, K. T.; Campbell, A. K. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2008, 1778, 1415.
- (10) Raeymaekers, L.; Wuytack, E.; Willems, I.; Michiels, C. W.; Wuytack, F. Cell Calcium 2002, 32, 93.
- (11) Nagamune, K.; Sibley, L. D. Mol. Biol. Evol. 2006, 23, 1613.
- (12) Baxter, I.; Tchieu, J.; Sussman, M. R.; Boutry, M.; Palmgren, M. G.; Gribskov, M.; Harper, J. F.; Axelsen, K. B. Plant Physiol. 2003, 132, 618.
- (13) Boursiac, Y.; Harper, J. F. J. Bioenergy Biomembr. 2007, 39, 409.
- (14) Mills, R. F.; Doherty, M. L.; Lopez-Marques, R. L.; Weimar, T.; Dupree, P.; Palmgren, M. G.; Pittman, J. K.; Williams, L. E. Plant Physiol. 2008, 146, 116.
- (15) Subbaiah, C. C.; Sachs, M. M. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275, 21678.
- (16) Hovnanian, A. Subcell. Biochem. 2007, 45, 337.
- (17) Putnam, N. H.; Srivastava, M.; Hellsten, U.; Dirks, B.; Chapman, J.; Salamov, A.; Terry, A.; Shapiro, H.; Lindquist, E.; Kapitonov, V. V.; Jurka, J.; Genikhovich, G.; Grigoriev, I. V.; Lucas, S. M.; Steele, R. E.; Finnerty, J. R.; Technau, U.; Martindale, M. Q.; Rokhsar, D. S. Science 2007, 317, 86.
- (18) Srivastava, M.; Begovic, E.; Chapman, J.; Putnam, N. H.; Hellsten, U.; Kawashima, T.; Kuo, A.; Mitros, T.; Salamov, A.; Carpenter, M. L.; Signorovitch, A. Y.; Moreno, M. A.; Kamm, K.; Grimwood, J.; Schmutz, J.; Shapiro, H.; Grigoriev, I. V.; Buss, L. W.; Schierwater, B.; Dellaporta, S. L.; Rokhsar, D. S. Nature 2008, 454, 955
- (19) Talla, E.; de Mendonca, R. L.; Degand, I.; Goffeau, A.; Ghislain, M. J. Biol. Chem. 1998, 273, 27831.
- (20) Wuytack, F.; Raeymaekers, L.; Missiaen, L. Cell Calcium 2002, 32, 279.
- (21) Toyoshima, C.; Nomura, H. Nature 2002, 418, 605.
- (22) Toyoshima, C.; Mizutani, T. *Nature* 2004, *430*, 529.
 (23) Toyoshima, C.; Nomura, H.; Tsuda, T. *Nature* 2004, *432*, 361.
- (24) Moncoq, K.; Trieber, C. A.; Young, H. S. J. Biol. Chem. 2007, 282, 9748.
- (25)Olesen, C.; Sorensen, T. L.; Nielsen, R. C.; Moller, J. V.; Nissen, P. Science 2004, 306, 2251.

- (26) Sorensen, T. L.; Moller, J. V.; Nissen, P. Science 2004, 304, 1672.
- (27) Olesen, C.; Picard, M.; Winther, A. M.; Gyrup, C.; Morth, J. P.; Oxvig, C.; Moller, J. V.; Nissen, P. *Nature* 2007, 450, 1036.
- (28) Toyoshima, C.; Norimatsu, Y.; Iwasawa, S.; Tsuda, T.; Ogawa, H. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2007, 104, 19831.
- (29) Jensen, A. M.; Sorensen, T. L.; Olesen, C.; Moller, J. V.; Nissen, P. EMBO J. 2006, 25, 2305.
- (30) Obara, K.; Miyashita, N.; Xu, C.; Toyoshima, I.; Sugita, Y.; Inesi, G.; Toyoshima, C. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2005, 102, 14489.
- (31) Sorensen, T. L.; Olesen, C.; Jensen, A. M.; Moller, J. V.; Nissen, P. J. Biotechnol. 2006, 124, 704.
- (32) Albers, R. W. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1967, 36, 727.
- (33) de Meis, L.; Vianna, A. L. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1979, 48, 275.
 (34) Yu, X.; Carroll, S.; Rigaud, J. L.; Inesi, G. Biophys. J. 1993, 64,
- 1232.
- (35) Yu, X.; Hao, L.; Inesi, G. J. Biol. Chem. 1994, 269, 16656.
- (36) Kuhlbrandt, W. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2004, 5, 282.
- (37) Jorgensen, P. L.; Jorgensen, J. R.; Pedersen, P. A. J. Bioenergy Biomembr. 2001, 33, 367.
- (38) Toyoshima, C. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 2008, 476, 3.
- (39) Daiho, T.; Yamasaki, K.; Danko, S.; Suzuki, H. J. Biol. Chem. 2007, 282, 34429.
- (40) Daiho, T.; Yamasaki, K.; Wang, G.; Danko, S.; Iizuka, H.; Suzuki, H. J. Biol. Chem. 2003, 278, 39197.
- (41) Pedersen, B. P.; Buch-Pedersen, M. J.; Morth, J. P.; Palmgren, M. G.; Nissen, P. *Nature* **2007**, *450*, 1111.
- (42) Morth, J. P.; Pedersen, B. P.; Toustrup-Jensen, M. S.; Sorensen, T. L.; Petersen, J.; Andersen, J. P.; Vilsen, B.; Nissen, P. *Nature* 2007, 450, 1043.
- (43) Gadsby, D. C. Nature 2007, 450, 957.
- (44) Moller, J. V.; Nissen, P.; Sorensen, T. L.; le Maire, M. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 2005, 15, 387.
- (45) Lee, A. G.; East, J. M. Biochem. J. 2001, 356, 665.
- (46) Toyoshima, C.; Inesi, G. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 2004, 73, 269.
 (47) Takeuchi, A.; Reyes, N.; Artigas, P.; Gadsby, D. C. Nature 2008, 456, 413.
- (48) Gouaux, E.; MacKinnon, R. Science 2005, 310, 1461.
- (49) Andersen, J. P. Biosci. Rep. 1995, 15, 243.
- (50) Gifford, J. L.; Walsh, M. P.; Vogel, H. J. Biochem. J. 2007, 405, 199.
- (51) Inesi, G. J. Biol. Chem. 1987, 262, 16338.
- (52) Inesi, G.; Ma, H.; Lewis, D.; Xu, C. J. Biol. Chem. 2004, 279, 31629.
- (53) Henderson, I. M.; Starling, A. P.; Wictome, M.; East, J. M.; Lee, A. G. Biochem. J. 1994, 297, 625.
- (54) Jorgensen, P. L.; Hakansson, K. O.; Karlish, S. J. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 2003, 65, 817.
- (55) Dupont, F. M.; Leonard, R. T. Plant Physiol. 1980, 65, 931.
- (56) Clausen, J. D.; Vilsen, B.; McIntosh, D. B.; Einholm, A. P.; Andersen, J. P. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2004, 101, 2776.
- (57) Ma, H.; Inesi, G.; Toyoshima, C. J. Biol. Chem. 2003, 278, 28938.
- (58) Ogawa, H.; Stokes, D. L.; Sasabe, H.; Toyoshima, C. Biophys. J. 1998, 75, 41.
- (59) Champeil, P.; Riollet, S.; Orlowski, S.; Guillain, F.; Seebregts, C. J.; McIntosh, D. B. J. Biol. Chem. 1988, 263, 12288.
- (60) Gould, G. W.; East, J. M.; Froud, R. J.; McWhirter, J. M.; Stefanova, H. I.; Lee, A. G. *Biochem. J.* **1986**, 237, 217.
- (61) Odermatt, A.; Taschner, P. E.; Khanna, V. K.; Busch, H. F.; Karpati, G.; Jablecki, C. K.; Breuning, M. H.; MacLennan, D. H. *Nat. Genet.* **1996**, *14*, 191.
- (62) Drogemuller, C.; Drogemuller, M.; Leeb, T.; Mascarello, F.; Testoni, S.; Rossi, M.; Gentile, A.; Damiani, E.; Sacchetto, R. *Genomics* 2008, 92, 474.
- (63) Charlier, C.; Coppieters, W.; Rollin, F.; Desmecht, D.; Agerholm, J. S.; Cambisano, N.; Carta, E.; Dardano, S.; Dive, M.; Fasquelle, C.; Frennet, J. C.; Hanset, R.; Hubin, X.; Jorgensen, C.; Karim, L.; Kent, M.; Harvey, K.; Pearce, B. R.; Simon, P.; Tama, N.; Nie, H.; Vandeputte, S.; Lien, S.; Longeri, M.; Fredholm, M.; Harvey, R. J.; Georges, M. Nat. Genet. 2008, 40, 449.
- (64) Hirata, H.; Saint-Amant, L.; Waterbury, J.; Cui, W.; Zhou, W.; Li, Q.; Goldman, D.; Granato, M.; Kuwada, J. Y. *Development* 2004, *131*, 5457.
- (65) Pan, Y.; Zvaritch, E.; Tupling, A. R.; Rice, W. J.; de Leon, S.; Rudnicki, M.; McKerlie, C.; Banwell, B. L.; MacLennan, D. H. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2003**, 278, 13367.
- (66) Zador, E.; Vangheluwe, P.; Wuytack, F. Cell Calcium 2007, 41, 379.
- (67) Hino, S.; Kondo, S.; Sekiya, H.; Saito, A.; Kanemoto, S.; Murakami, T.; Chihara, K.; Aoki, Y.; Nakamori, M.; Takahashi, M. P.; Imaizumi, K. Hum. Mol. Genet. 2007, 16, 2834.
- (68) Zwaal, R. R.; Van Baelen, K.; Groenen, J. T.; van Geel, A.; Rottiers, V.; Kaletta, T.; Dode, L.; Raeymaekers, L.; Wuytack, F.; Bogaert, T. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 43557.
- (69) Fan, W.; Li, C.; Li, S.; Feng, Q.; Xie, L.; Zhang, R. Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. (Shanghai) 2007, 39, 722.

- (70) Chen, J. L.; Ahluwalia, J. P.; Stamnes, M. J. Biol. Chem. 2002, 277, 35682.
- (71) Wuytack, F.; Raeymaekers, L.; De Smedt, H.; Eggermont, J. A.; Missiaen, L.; Van Den Bosch, L.; De Jaegere, S.; Verboomen, H.; Plessers, L.; Casteels, R. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. **1992**, 671, 82.
- (72) Campbell, A. M.; Kessler, P. D.; Fambrough, D. M. J. Biol. Chem. 1992, 267, 9321.
- (73) Bayle, D.; Weeks, D.; Sachs, G. J. Biol. Chem. 1995, 270, 25678.
- (74) Lytton, J.; Westlin, M.; Burk, S. E.; Shull, G. E.; MacLennan, D. H. J. Biol. Chem. 1992, 267, 14483.
- (75) Verboomen, H.; Wuytack, F.; De Smedt, H.; Himpens, B.; Casteels, R. Biochem. J. 1992, 286, 591.
- (76) Dode, L.; Andersen, J. P.; Leslie, N.; Dhitavat, J.; Vilsen, B.; Hovnanian, A. J. Biol. Chem. 2003, 278, 47877.
- (77) Gelebart, P.; Martin, V.; Enouf, J.; Papp, B. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2003, 303, 676.
- (78) Dally, S.; Bredoux, R.; Corvazier, E.; Andersen, J. P.; Clausen, J. D.; Dode, L.; Fanchaouy, M.; Gelebart, P.; Monceau, V.; Del Monte, F.; Gwathmey, J. K.; Hajjar, R.; Chaabane, C.; Bobe, R.; Raies, A.; Enouf, J. *Biochem. J.* **2006**, *395*, 249.
- (79) MacLennan, D. H.; Kranias, E. G. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2003, 4, 566.
- (80) Vangheluwe, P.; Sipido, K. R.; Raeymaekers, L.; Wuytack, F. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2006, 1763, 1216.
- (81) Periasamy, M.; Bhupathy, P.; Babu, G. J. Cardiovasc. Res. 2008, 77, 265.
- (82) Periasamy, M.; Huke, S. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 2001, 33, 1053.
- (83) Loukianov, E.; Ji, Y.; Grupp, I. L.; Kirkpatrick, D. L.; Baker, D. L.; Loukianova, T.; Grupp, G.; Lytton, J.; Walsh, R. A.; Periasamy, M. *Circ. Res.* **1998**, *83*, 889.
- (84) Baker, D. L.; Hashimoto, K.; Grupp, I. L.; Ji, Y.; Reed, T.; Loukianov, E.; Grupp, G.; Bhagwhat, A.; Hoit, B.; Walsh, R.; Marban, E.; Periasamy, M. Circ. Res. **1998**, *83*, 1205.
- (85) Periasamy, M.; Reed, T. D.; Liu, L. H.; Ji, Y.; Loukianov, E.; Paul, R. J.; Nieman, M. L.; Riddle, T.; Duffy, J. J.; Doetschman, T.; Lorenz, J. N.; Shull, G. E. J. Biol. Chem. **1999**, 274, 2556.
- (86) Morgan, J. P.; Erny, R. E.; Allen, P. D.; Grossman, W.; Gwathmey, J. K. *Circulation* **1990**, *81*, III21.
- (87) Hasenfuss, G.; Reinecke, H.; Studer, R.; Meyer, M.; Pieske, B.; Holtz, J.; Holubarsch, C.; Posival, H.; Just, H.; Drexler, H. Circ. Res. 1994, 75, 434.
- (88) Byrne, M. J.; Power, J. M.; Preovolos, A.; Mariani, J. A.; Hajjar, R. J.; Kaye, D. M. *Gene Ther.* **2008**, *15*, 1550.
- (89) Tavadia, S.; Tait, R. C.; McDonagh, T. A.; Munro, C. S. Clin. Exp. Dermatol. 2001, 26, 696.
- (90) Mayosi, B. M.; Kardos, A.; Davies, C. H.; Gumedze, F.; Hovnanian, A.; Burge, S.; Watkins, H. *Heart* **2006**, *92*, 105.
- (91) Liu, L. H.; Boivin, G. P.; Prasad, V.; Periasamy, M.; Shull, G. E. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 26737.
- (92) Sakuntabhai, A.; Ruiz-Perez, V.; Carter, S.; Jacobsen, N.; Burge, S.; Monk, S.; Smith, M.; Munro, C. S.; O'Donovan, M.; Craddock, N.; Kucherlapati, R.; Rees, J. L.; Owen, M.; Lathrop, G. M.; Monaco, A. P.; Strachan, T.; Hovnanian, A. *Nat. Genet.* **1999**, *21*, 271.
- (93) Ver Heyen, M.; Heymans, S.; Antoons, G.; Reed, T.; Periasamy, M.; Awede, B.; Lebacq, J.; Vangheluwe, P.; Dewerchin, M.; Collen, D.; Sipido, K.; Carmeliet, P.; Wuytack, F. *Circ. Res.* **2001**, *89*, 838.
- (94) Vangheluwe, P.; Tjwa, M.; Van Den Bergh, A.; Louch, W. E.; Beullens, M.; Dode, L.; Carmeliet, P.; Kranias, E.; Herijgers, P.; Sipido, K. R.; Raeymaekers, L.; Wuytack, F. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 2006, 41, 308.
- (95) Vangheluwe, P.; Schuermans, M.; Raeymaekers, L.; Wuytack, F. Cell Calcium 2007, 42, 281.
- (96) Ji, Y.; Lalli, M. J.; Babu, G. J.; Xu, Y.; Kirkpatrick, D. L.; Liu, L. H.; Chiamvimonvat, N.; Walsh, R. A.; Shull, G. E.; Periasamy, M. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275, 38073.
- (97) MacLennan, D. H.; Asahi, M.; Tupling, A. R. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 2003, 986, 472.
- (98) Vangheluwe, P.; Schuermans, M.; Zador, E.; Waelkens, E.; Raeymaekers, L.; Wuytack, F. *Biochem. J.* 2005, 389, 151.
- (99) Babu, G. J.; Bhupathy, P.; Carnes, C. A.; Billman, G. E.; Periasamy, M. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 2007, 43, 215.
- (100) Damiani, E.; Sacchetto, R.; Margreth, A. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **2000**, *1464*, 231.
- (101) Lalli, J.; Harrer, J. M.; Luo, W.; Kranias, E. G.; Paul, R. J. Circ. Res. 1997, 80, 506.
- (102) James, P.; Inui, M.; Tada, M.; Chiesi, M.; Carafoli, E. *Nature* **1989**, *342*, 90.
- (103) Toyoshima, C.; Asahi, M.; Sugita, Y.; Khanna, R.; Tsuda, T.; MacLennan, D. H. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2003, 100, 467.
- (104) Hutter, M. C.; Krebs, J.; Meiler, J.; Griesinger, C.; Carafoli, E.; Helms, V. ChemBioChem **2002**, *3*, 1200.
- (105) Asahi, M.; McKenna, E.; Kurzydlowski, K.; Tada, M.; MacLennan, D. H. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275, 15034.

- (106) Wegener, A. D.; Simmerman, H. K.; Lindemann, J. P.; Jones, L. R. J. Biol. Chem. 1989, 264, 11468.
- (107) Luo, W.; Grupp, I. L.; Harrer, J.; Ponniah, S.; Grupp, G.; Duffy, J. J.; Doetschman, T.; Kranias, E. G. Circ. Res. 1994, 75, 401.
- (108) Luo, W.; Chu, G.; Sato, Y.; Zhou, Z.; Kadambi, V. J.; Kranias, E. G. J. Biol. Chem. 1998, 273, 4734.
- (109) Chu, G.; Lester, J. W.; Young, K. B.; Luo, W.; Zhai, J.; Kranias, E. G. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275, 38938.
- (110) Mattiazzi, A.; Mundina-Weilenmann, C.; Guoxiang, C.; Vittone, L.; Kranias, E. Cardiovasc. Res. 2005, 68, 366.
- (111) Zhao, W.; Uehara, Y.; Chu, G.; Song, Q.; Qian, J.; Young, K.; Kranias, E. G. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 2004, 37, 607.
- (112) DeSantiago, J.; Maier, L. S.; Bers, D. M. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 2002, 34, 975.
- (113) Bhupathy, P.; Babu, G. J.; Periasamy, M. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 2007, 42, 903.
- (114) Babu, G. J.; Zheng, Z.; Natarajan, P.; Wheeler, D.; Janssen, P. M.; Periasamy, M. *Cardiovasc. Res.* **2005**, *65*, 177.
- (115) Babu, G. J.; Bhupathy, P.; Petrashevskaya, N. N.; Wang, H.; Raman, S.; Wheeler, D.; Jagatheesan, G.; Wieczorek, D.; Schwartz, A.; Janssen, P. M.; Ziolo, M. T.; Periasamy, M. J. Biol. Chem. 2006, 281, 3972.
- (116) Asahi, M.; Otsu, K.; Nakayama, H.; Hikoso, S.; Takeda, T.; Gramolini, A. O.; Trivieri, M. G.; Oudit, G. Y.; Morita, T.; Kusakari, Y.; Hirano, S.; Hongo, K.; Hirotani, S.; Yamaguchi, O.; Peterson, A.; Backx, P. H.; Kurihara, S.; Hori, M.; MacLennan, D. H. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2004, 101, 9199.
- (117) Gramolini, A. O.; Kislinger, T.; Asahi, M.; Li, W.; Emili, A.; MacLennan, D. H. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2004, 101, 16807.
- (118) Hughes, E.; Clayton, J. C.; Kitmitto, A.; Esmann, M.; Middleton, D. A. J. Biol. Chem. 2007, 282, 26603.
- (119) Asahi, M.; Sugita, Y.; Kurzydlowski, K.; De Leon, S.; Tada, M.; Toyoshima, C.; MacLennan, D. H. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2003, 100, 5040.
- (120) Morita, T.; Hussain, D.; Asahi, M.; Tsuda, T.; Kurzydlowski, K.; Toyoshima, C.; MacLennan, D. H. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2008, 369, 188.
- (121) Asahi, M.; Kurzydlowski, K.; Tada, M.; MacLennan, D. H. J. Biol. Chem. 2002, 277, 26725.
- (122) Odermatt, A.; Becker, S.; Khanna, V. K.; Kurzydlowski, K.; Leisner,
 E.; Pette, D.; MacLennan, D. H. J. Biol. Chem. 1998, 273, 12360.
- (123) Gramolini, A. O.; Trivieri, M. G.; Oudit, G. Y.; Kislinger, T.; Li, W.; Patel, M. M.; Emili, A.; Kranias, E. G.; Backx, P. H.; MacLennan, D. H. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2006, 103, 2446.
- (124) Babu, G. J.; Bhupathy, P.; Timofeyev, V.; Petrashevskaya, N. N.; Reiser, P. J.; Chiamvimonvat, N.; Periasamy, M. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2007, 104, 17867.
- (125) Vangheluwe, P.; Raeymaekers, L.; Dode, L.; Wuytack, F. Cell Calcium 2005, 38, 291.
- (126) Kuo, T. H.; Kim, H. R.; Zhu, L.; Yu, Y.; Lin, H. M.; Tsang, W. Oncogene 1998, 17, 1903.
- (127) Algenstaedt, P.; Antonetti, D. A.; Yaffe, M. B.; Kahn, C. R. J. Biol. Chem. 1997, 272, 23696.
- (128) Kiewitz, R.; Acklin, C.; Schafer, B. W.; Maco, B.; Uhrik, B.; Wuytack, F.; Erne, P.; Heizmann, C. W. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2003, 306, 550.
- (129) Nediani, C.; Fiorillo, C.; Marchetti, E.; Pacini, A.; Liguri, G.; Nassi, P. J. Biol. Chem. **1996**, 271, 19066.
- (130) Tuusa, J. T.; Markkanen, P. M.; Apaja, P. M.; Hakalahti, A. E.; Petaja-Repo, U. E. J. Mol. Biol. 2007, 371, 622.
- (131) Redondo, P. C.; Jardin, I.; Lopez, J. J.; Salido, G. M.; Rosado, J. A. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2008, 1783, 1163.
- (132) Vafiadaki, E.; Arvanitis, D. A.; Pagakis, S. N.; Papalouka, V.; Sanoudou, D.; Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos, A.; Kranias, E. G. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **2009**, *20*, 306.
- (133) Li, Y.; Camacho, P. J. Cell Biol. 2004, 164, 35.
- (134) Dode, L.; Vilsen, B.; Van Baelen, K.; Wuytack, F.; Clausen, J. D.; Andersen, J. P. J. Biol. Chem. 2002, 277, 45579.
- (135) MacLennan, D. H.; Toyofuku, T.; Lytton, J. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1992, 671, 1.
- (136) Grover, A. K.; Kwan, C. Y.; Samson, S. E. Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol. 2003, 285, C1537.
- (137) Dally, S.; Monceau, V.; Corvazier, E.; Bredoux, R.; Raies, A.; Bobe, R.; del Monte, F.; Enouf, J. *Cell Calcium* **2009**, *45*, 144.
- (138) Mountian, I.; Manolopoulos, V. G.; De Smedt, H.; Parys, J. B.; Missiaen, L.; Wuytack, F. Cell Calcium 1999, 25, 371.
- (139) Brouland, J. P.; Gelebart, P.; Kovacs, T.; Enouf, J.; Grossmann, J.; Papp, B. Am. J. Pathol. 2005, 167, 233.
- (140) Dode, L.; De Greef, C.; Mountian, I.; Attard, M.; Town, M. M.; Casteels, R.; Wuytack, F. J. Biol. Chem. 1998, 273, 13982.
- (141) Hadri, L.; Ozog, A.; Soncin, F.; Lompre, A. M. J. Biol. Chem. 2002, 277, 36471.

- (142) Hadri, L.; Pavoine, C.; Lipskaia, L.; Yacoubi, S.; Lompre, A. M. Biochem. J. 2006, 394, 27.
- (143) Liu, L. H.; Paul, R. J.; Sutliff, R. L.; Miller, M. L.; Lorenz, J. N.; Pun, R. Y.; Duffy, J. J.; Doetschman, T.; Kimura, Y.; MacLennan, D. H.; Hoying, J. B.; Shull, G. E. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1997**, *272*, 30538.
- (144) Varadi, A.; Lebel, L.; Hashim, Y.; Mehta, Z.; Ashcroft, S. J.; Turner, R. *Diabetologia* **1999**, *42*, 1240.
- (145) Arredouani, A.; Guiot, Y.; Jonas, J. C.; Liu, L. H.; Nenquin, M.; Pertusa, J. A.; Rahier, J.; Rolland, J. F.; Shull, G. E.; Stevens, M.; Wuytack, F.; Henquin, J. C.; Gilon, P. *Diabetes* **2002**, *51*, 3245.
- (146) Christensen, S. B. J. Org. Chem. 1982, 47, 649.
- (147) Wootton, L. L.; Michelangeli, F. J. Biol. Chem. 2006, 281, 6970. (148) Takahashi, M.; Kondou, Y.; Toyoshima, C. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.
- U.S.A. 2007, 104, 5800.
- (149) Yu, M.; Zhong, L.; Rishi, A. K.; Khadeer, M.; Inesi, G.; Hussain, A. J. Biol. Chem. **1998**, 273, 3542.
- (150) Moreno, I.; Norambuena, L.; Maturana, D.; Toro, M.; Vergara, C.; Orellana, A.; Zurita-Silva, A.; Ordenes, V. R. J. Biol. Chem. 2008, 283, 9633.
- (151) Liang, F.; Sze, H. Plant Physiol. 1998, 118, 817.
- (152) Krishna, S.; Woodrow, C.; Webb, R.; Penny, J.; Takeyasu, K.; Kimura, M.; East, J. M. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 10782.
- (153) Eckstein-Ludwig, U.; Webb, R. J.; Van Goethem, I. D.; East, J. M.; Lee, A. G.; Kimura, M.; O'Neill, P. M.; Bray, P. G.; Ward, S. A.; Krishna, S. *Nature* **2003**, *424*, 957.
- (154) Nagamune, K.; Beatty, W. L.; Sibley, L. D. *Eukaryot. Cell* **2007**, *6*, 2147.
- (155) Krishna, S.; Bustamante, L.; Haynes, R. K.; Staines, H. M. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 2008, 29, 520.
- (156) Krishna, S.; Woodrow, C. J.; Staines, H. M.; Haynes, R. K.; Mercereau-Puijalon, O. *Trends Mol. Med.* **2006**, *12*, 200.
- (157) Uhlemann, A. C.; Cameron, A.; Eckstein-Ludwig, U.; Fischbarg, J.; Iserovich, P.; Zuniga, F. A.; East, M.; Lee, A.; Brady, L.; Haynes, R. K.; Krishna, S. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2005**, *12*, 628.
- (158) Ton, V.-K.; Rao, R. Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol. 2004, 287, C580.
- (159) Vanoevelen, J.; Dode, L.; Raeymaekers, L.; Wuytack, F.; Missiaen, L. Subcell. Biochem. 2007, 45, 385.
- (160) Smith, R. A.; Duncan, M. J.; Moir, D. T. Science 1985, 229, 1219.
- (161) Serrano, R.; Kielland-Brandt, M. C.; Fink, G. R. Nature 1986, 319, 689.
- (162) Sudbrak, R.; Brown, J.; Dobson-Stone, C.; Carter, S.; Ramser, J.; White, J.; Healy, E.; Dissanayake, M.; Larregue, M.; Perrussel, M.; Lehrach, H.; Munro, C. S.; Strachan, T.; Burge, S.; Hovnanian, A.; Monaco, A. P. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **2000**, *9*, 1131.
- (163) Hu, Z.; Bonifas, J. M.; Beech, J.; Bench, G.; Shigihara, T.; Ogawa, H.; Ikeda, S.; Mauro, T.; Epstein, E. H., Jr. *Nat. Genet.* **2000**, *24*, 61.
- (164) Gunteski-Hamblin, A. M.; Clarke, D. M.; Shull, G. E. *Biochemistry* 1992, 31, 7600.
- (165) Van Baelen, K.; Vanoevelen, J.; Missiaen, L.; Raeymaekers, L.; Wuytack, F. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 10683.
- (166) Southall, T. D.; Terhzaz, S.; Cabrero, P.; Chintapalli, V. R.; Evans, J. M.; Dow, J. A. T.; Davies, S.-A. *Physiol. Genomics* **2006**, *26*, 35.
- (167) Uccelletti, D.; Farina, F.; Palleschi, C. Yeast 1999, 15, 593.
- (168) Park, C. S.; Kim, J. Y.; Crispino, C.; Chang, C. C.; Ryu, D. D. Gene 1998, 206, 107.
- (169) Kang, H. A.; Kim, J. Y.; Ko, S. M.; Park, C. S.; Ryu, D. D.; Sohn, J. H.; Choi, E. S.; Rhee, S. K. Yeast **1998**, *14*, 1233.
- (170) Maeda, T.; Sugiura, R.; Kita, A.; Saito, M.; Deng, L.; He, Y.; Yabin, L.; Fujita, Y.; Takegawa, K.; Shuntoh, H.; Kuno, T. *Genes Cells* 2004, *9*, 71.
- (171) Yang, J.; Kang, H. A.; Ko, S. M.; Chae, S. K.; Ryu, D. D.; Kim, J. Y. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 2001, 199, 97.
- (172) Bates, S.; MacCallum, D. M.; Bertram, G.; Munro, C. A.; Hughes, H. B.; Buurman, E. T.; Brown, A. J.; Odds, F. C.; Gow, N. A. J. Biol. Chem. 2005, 280, 23408.
- (173) Dux, M. P.; Inan, M. Yeast 2006, 23, 613.
- (174) Fairclough, R. J.; Dode, L.; Vanoevelen, J.; Andersen, J. P.; Missiaen, L.; Raeymaekers, L.; Wuytack, F.; Hovnanian, A. J. Biol. Chem. 2003, 278, 24721.
- (175) Ishikawa, K.; Nagase, T.; Suyama, M.; Miyajima, N.; Tanaka, A.; Kotani, H.; Nomura, N.; Ohara, O. DNA Res. 1998, 5, 169.
- (176) Vanoevelen, J.; Dode, L.; Van Baelen, K.; Fairclough, R. J.; Missiaen, L.; Raeymaekers, L.; Wuytack, F. J. Biol. Chem. 2005, 280, 22800.
- (177) Xiang, M.; Mohamalawari, D.; Rao, R. J. Biol. Chem. 2005, 280, 11608.
- (178) Sali, A.; Blundell, T. L. J. Mol. Biol. 1993, 234, 779.
- (179) Ogawa, H.; Toyoshima, C. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2002, 99, 15977.
- (180) Kuhlbrandt, W.; Zeelen, J.; Dietrich, J. Science 2002, 297, 1692.
- (181) Lushington, G. H.; Zaidi, A.; Michaelis, M. L. J. Mol. Graph. Model. 2005, 24, 175.
- (182) Kim, C. G.; Watts, J. A.; Watts, A. J. Med. Chem. 2005, 48, 7145.

- (183) Vilsen, B.; Andersen, J. P. Biochemistry 1998, 37, 10961.
- (184) Wei, Y.; Chen, J.; Rosas, G.; Tompkins, D. A.; Holt, P. A.; Rao, R. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275, 23927.
- (185) Mandal, D.; Rulli, S. J.; Rao, R. J. Biol. Chem. 2003, 278, 35292.
- (186) Mandal, D.; Woolf, T. B.; Rao, R. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275, 23933.
- (187) Wei, Y.; Marchi, V.; Wang, R.; Rao, R. Biochemistry 1999, 38, 14534.
- (188) Laursen, M.; Bublitz, M.; Moncoq, K.; Olesen, C.; Moller, J. V.; Young, H. S.; Nissen, P.; Morth, J. P. J. Biol. Chem. 2009, 284, 13513.
- (189) Meissner, G.; Young, R. C. J. Biol. Chem. 1980, 255, 6814.
- (190) Niggli, V.; Sigel, E. Trends Biochem. Sci. 2008, 33, 156.
- (191) Wakabayashi, S.; Shigekawa, M. J. Biol. Chem. 1987, 262, 11524.
 (192) Shigekawa, M.; Dougherty, J. P.; Katz, A. M. J. Biol. Chem. 1978,
- 253, 1442.
 (193) Dode, L.; Andersen, J. P.; Raeymaekers, L.; Missiaen, L.; Vilsen, B.; Wuytack, F. J. Biol. Chem. 2005, 280, 39124.
- (194) Dode, L.; Vanoevelen, J.; Missiaen, L.; Raeymaekers, L.; Wuytack, F. In *Calcium: A matter of life or death*; Elsevier: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2007; Vol. 41.
- (195) Buch-Pedersen, M. J.; Pedersen, B. P.; Veierskov, B.; Nissen, P.; Palmgren, M. G. Pflugers Arch. 2009, 457, 573.
- (196) Wootton, L. L.; Argent, C. C.; Wheatley, M.; Michelangeli, F. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2004, 1664, 189.
- (197) Antebi, A.; Fink, G. R. Mol. Biol. Cell 1992, 3, 633.
- (198) Ton, V. K.; Mandal, D.; Vahadji, C.; Rao, R. J. Biol. Chem. 2002, 277, 6422.
- (199) Missiaen, L.; Dode, L.; Vanoevelen, J.; Raeymaekers, L.; Wuytack, F. Cell Calcium 2007, 41, 405.
- (200) Harper, C.; Wootton, L.; Michelangeli, F.; Lefievre, L.; Barratt, C.; Publicover, S. J. Cell Sci. 2005, 118, 1673.
- (201) Gunaratne, J. H.; Vacquier, V. D. Gene 2007, 397, 67.
- (202) Gunaratne, J. H.; Vacquier, V. D. FEBS Lett. 2006, 580, 3900.
- (203) Drago, I.; Giacomello, M.; Pizzo, P.; Pozzan, T. J. Biol. Chem. 2008, 283, 14384.
- (204) Faddy, H. M.; Smart, C. E.; Xu, R.; Lee, G. Y.; Kenny, P. A.; Feng, M.; Rao, R.; Brown, M. A.; Bissell, M. J.; Roberts-Thomson, S. J.; Monteith, G. R. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2008, 369, 977.
- (205) Dmitriev, R. I.; Pestov, N. B.; Korneenko, T. V.; Kostina, M. B.; Shakhparonov, M. I. J. Gen. Physiol. 2005, 126, 71a.
- (206) Baron, S.; Struyf, S.; Wuytack, F.; Van Damme, J.; Missiaen, L.; Raeymaekers, L.; Vanoevelen, J. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 2009, 1793, 1041.
- (207) Dode, L.; Andersen, J. P.; Vanoevelen, J.; Raeymaekers, L.; Missiaen, L.; Vilsen, B.; Wuytack, F. J. Biol. Chem. 2006, 281, 3182.
- (208) Sepulveda, M. R.; Berrocal, M.; Marcos, D.; Wuytack, F.; Mata, A. M. J. Neurochem. 2007, 103, 1009.
- (209) Sorin, A.; Rosas, G.; Rao, R. J. Biol. Chem. 1997, 272, 9895.
- (210) Vanoevelen, J.; Raeymaekers, L.; Parys, J. B.; De Smedt, H.; Van Baelen, K.; Callewaert, G.; Wuytack, F.; Missiaen, L. Cell Calcium 2004, 35, 115.
- (211) Missiaen, L.; Vanoevelen, J.; Parys, J. B.; Raeymaekers, L.; De Smedt, H.; Callewaert, G.; Erneux, C.; Wuytack, F. J. Biol. Chem. 2002, 277, 6898.
- (212) Brown, G. R.; Benyon, S. L.; Kirk, C. J.; Wictome, M.; East, J. M.; Lee, A. G.; Michelangeli, F. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1994**, *1195*, 252.
- (213) Okunade, G. W.; Miller, M. L.; Azhar, M.; Andringa, A.; Sanford, L. P.; Doetschman, T.; Prasad, V.; Shull, G. E. J. Biol. Chem. 2007, 282, 26517.
- (214) Rudolph, H. K.; Antebi, A.; Fink, G. R.; Buckley, C. M.; Dorman, T. E.; LeVitre, J.; Davidow, L. S.; Mao, J. I.; Moir, D. T. *Cell* **1989**, 58, 133.
- (215) Cho, J. H.; Ko, K. M.; Singaravelu, G.; Ahnn, J. FEBS Lett. 2005, 579, 778.
- (216) Park, S. Y.; Seo, S. B.; Lee, S. J.; Na, J. G.; Kim, Y. J. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 31, 31.
- (217) Cortes, J. C.; Katoh-Fukui, R.; Moto, K.; Ribas, J. C.; Ishiguro, J. *Eukaryot. Cell* **2004**, *3*, 1124.
- (218) Agaphonov, M. O.; Plotnikova, T. A.; Fokina, A. V.; Romanova, N. V.; Packeiser, A. N.; Kang, H. A.; Ter-Avanesyan, M. D. *FEMS Yeast Res.* 2007, 7, 1145.
- (219) Van Baelen, K.; Vanoevelen, J.; Callewaert, G.; Parys, J. B.; De Smedt, H.; Raeymaekers, L.; Rizzuto, R.; Missiaen, L.; Wuytack, F. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2003**, *306*, 430.
- (220) Mitchell, K. J.; Tsuboi, T.; Rutter, G. A. Diabetes 2004, 53, 393.
- (221) Ramos-Castaneda, J.; Park, Y. N.; Liu, M.; Hauser, K.; Rudolph, H.; Shull, G. E.; Jonkman, M. F.; Mori, K.; Ikeda, S.; Ogawa, H.; Arvan, P. J. Biol. Chem. 2005, 280, 9467.
- (222) Foggia, L.; Aronchik, I.; Aberg, K.; Brown, B.; Hovnanian, A.; Mauro, T. M. J. Cell Sci. 2006, 119, 671.
- (223) Monteith, G. R.; McAndrew, D.; Faddy, H. M.; Roberts-Thomson, S. J. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2007, 7, 519.

- (224) Williams, L. E.; Mills, R. F. Trends Plant Sci. 2005, 10, 491.
- (225) Arguello, J. M.; Eren, E.; Gonzalez-Guerrero, M. Biometals 2007, 20, 233.
- (226) Lutsenko, S.; Barnes, N. L.; Bartee, M. Y.; Dmitriev, O. Y. *Physiol. Rev.* 2007, 87, 1011.
- (227) Verkhratsky, A. Physiol. Rev. 2005, 85, 201.
- (228) Ashby, M. C.; Tepikin, A. V. Semin. Cell. Dev. Biol. 2001, 12, 11. (229) Burdakov, D.; Petersen, O. H.; Verkhratsky, A. Cell Calcium 2005,
- *38*, 303.
- (230) Helenius, A.; Aebi, M. Science 2001, 291, 2364.
- (231) Michalak, M.; Robert Parker, J. M.; Opas, M. Cell Calcium 2002, 32, 269.
- (232) Williams, D. B. J. Cell Sci. 2006, 119, 615.
- (233) Baksh, S.; Michalak, M. J. Biol. Chem. 1991, 266, 21458.
- (234) Nakamura, K.; Zuppini, A.; Arnaudeau, S.; Lynch, J.; Ahsan, I.; Krause, R.; Papp, S.; De Smedt, H.; Parys, J. B.; Muller-Esterl, W.; Lew, D. P.; Krause, K. H.; Demaurex, N.; Opas, M.; Michalak, M. *J. Cell Biol.* **2001**, *154*, 961.
- (235) Corbett, E. F.; Oikawa, K.; Francois, P.; Tessier, D. C.; Kay, C.; Bergeron, J. J.; Thomas, D. Y.; Krause, K. H.; Michalak, M. J. Biol. Chem. **1999**, 274, 6203.
- (236) Stevens, F. J.; Argon, Y. Semin. Cell. Dev. Biol. 1999, 10, 443.
- (237) Brostrom, M. A.; Brostrom, C. O. Cell Calcium 2003, 34, 345.
- (238) Helenius, A.; Aebi, M. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 2004, 73, 1019.
- (239) Parodi, A. J. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 2000, 69, 69.
- (240) Vallee, F.; Lipari, F.; Yip, P.; Sleno, B.; Herscovics, A.; Howell, P. L. *EMBO J.* **2000**, *19*, 581.
- (241) Schutzbach, J. S.; Forsee, W. T. J. Biol. Chem. 1990, 265, 2546.
- (242) Hang, H. C.; Bertozzi, C. R. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2005, 13, 5021.
- (243) Van den Steen, P.; Rudd, P. M.; Dwek, R. A.; Opdenakker, G. Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 1998, 33, 151.
- (244) Harris, R. J.; Spellman, M. W. Glycobiology 1993, 3, 219.
- (245) Michaelsson, E.; Malmstrom, V.; Reis, S.; Engstrom, A.; Burkhardt, H.; Holmdahl, R. J. Exp. Med. 1994, 180, 745.
- (246) Hart, G. W. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1997, 66, 315.
- (247) Ohtsubo, K.; Marth, J. D. Cell 2006, 126, 855.
- (248) Coutinho, P. M.; Deleury, E.; Davies, G. J.; Henrissat, B. J. Mol. Biol. 2003, 328, 307.
- (249) Qasba, P. K.; Ramakrishnan, B.; Boeggeman, E. Trends Biochem. Sci. 2005, 30, 53.
- (250) Tu, L.; Tai, W. C.; Chen, L.; Banfield, D. K. Science 2008, 321, 404.
- (251) Roseman, S. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 41527.
- (252) Powell, J. T.; Brew, K. J. Biol. Chem. 1976, 251, 3653.
- (253) Boeggeman, E.; Qasba, P. K. Glycobiology 2002, 12, 395.
- (254) Nishikawa, Y.; Pegg, W.; Paulsen, H.; Schachter, H. J. Biol. Chem. 1988, 263, 8270.
- (255) Wiggins, C. A.; Munro, S. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1998, 95, 7945
- (256) Negishi, M.; Dong, J.; Darden, T. A.; Pedersen, L. G.; Pedersen, L. C. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2003, 303, 393.
- (257) Konishi, T.; Ono, H.; Ohnishi-Kameyama, M.; Kaneko, S.; Ishii, T. *Plant Physiol.* 2006, 141, 1098.
- (258) Palma, A. S.; Morais, V. A.; Coelho, A. V.; Costa, J. Biometals 2004, 17, 35.
- (259) Brito, C.; Kandzia, S.; Graca, T.; Conradt, H. S.; Costa, J. *Biochimie* 2008, *90*, 1279.
- (260) Fritz, T. A.; Hurley, J. H.; Trinh, L. B.; Shiloach, J.; Tabak, L. A. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2004, 101, 15307.
- (261) Hu, Y.; Chen, L.; Ha, S.; Gross, B.; Falcone, B.; Walker, D.; Mokhtarzadeh, M.; Walker, S. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 2003, *100*, 845.
- (262) Breton, C.; Bettler, E.; Joziasse, D. H.; Geremia, R. A.; Imberty, A. J. Biochem. 1998, 123, 1000.
- (263) Unligil, U. M.; Zhou, S.; Yuwaraj, S.; Sarkar, M.; Schachter, H.; Rini, J. M. *EMBO J.* **2000**, *19*, 5269.
- (264) Breton, C.; Imberty, A. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 1999, 9, 563.
- (265) Durr, G.; Strayle, J.; Plemper, R.; Elbs, S.; Klee, S. K.; Catty, P.; Wolf, D. H.; Rudolph, H. K. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **1998**, *9*, 1149.
- (266) Vashist, S.; Frank, C. G.; Jakob, C. A.; Ng, D. T. Mol. Biol. Cell 2002, 13, 3955.
- (267) Zhao, H. L.; Xue, C.; Wang, Y.; Duan, Q. F.; Xiong, X. H.; Yao, X. Q.; Liu, Z. M. Yeast 2008, 25, 279.
- (268) Chechenova, M. B.; Romanova, N. V.; Deev, A. V.; Packeiser, A. N.; Smirnov, V. N.; Agaphonov, M. O.; Ter-Avanesyan, M. D. *Eukaryot. Cell* **2004**, *3*, 52.
- (269) Strayle, J.; Pozzan, T.; Rudolph, H. K. EMBO J. 1999, 18, 4733.
- (270) Negishi, M.; Pedersen, L. G.; Petrotchenko, E.; Shevtsov, S.; Gorokhov, A.; Kakuta, Y.; Pedersen, L. C. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 2001, 390, 149.
- (271) Rens-Domiano, S.; Roth, J. A. J. Biol. Chem. 1989, 264, 899.
- (272) Mishiro, E.; Liu, M. Y.; Sakakibara, Y.; Suiko, M.; Liu, M. C. Biochem. Cell. Biol. 2004, 82, 295.

- (273) Lo-Guidice, J. M.; Perini, J. M.; Lafitte, J. J.; Ducourouble, M. P.; Roussel, P.; Lamblin, G. J. Biol. Chem. 1995, 270, 27544.
- (274) Seko, A.; Sumiya, J.; Yamashita, K. Biochem. J. 2005, 391, 77.
- (275) Spiro, R. G.; Yasumoto, Y.; Bhoyroo, V. Biochem. J. 1996, 319, 209.
- (276) Degroote, S.; Lo-Guidice, J. M.; Strecker, G.; Ducourouble, M. P.; Roussel, P.; Lamblin, G. J. Biol. Chem. **1997**, 272, 29493.
- (277) Lee, J. K.; Bhakta, S.; Rosen, S. D.; Hemmerich, S. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1999, 263, 543.
- (278) Nillni, E. A. Endocrinology 2007, 148, 4191.
- (279) Anderson, E. D.; VanSlyke, J. K.; Thulin, C. D.; Jean, F.; Thomas, G. *EMBO J.* **1997**, *16*, 1508.
- (280) Henrich, S.; Cameron, A.; Bourenkov, G. P.; Kiefersauer, R.; Huber, R.; Lindberg, I.; Bode, W.; Than, M. E. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* **2003**, *10*, 520.
- (281) Henrich, S.; Lindberg, I.; Bode, W.; Than, M. E. J. Mol. Biol. 2005, 345, 211.
- (282) Than, M. E.; Henrich, S.; Bourenkov, G. P.; Bartunik, H. D.; Huber, R.; Bode, W. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. D 2005, 61, 505.
- (283) Zhou, Y.; Lindberg, I. J. Biol. Chem. 1993, 268, 5615.
- (284) Austin, C. D.; Shields, D. J. Biol. Chem. 1996, 271, 1194
- (285) Davidson, H. W.; Rhodes, C. J.; Hutton, J. C. Nature 1988, 333, 93.
- (286) Molloy, S. S.; Bresnahan, P. A.; Leppla, S. H.; Klimpel, K. R.; Thomas, G. J. Biol. Chem. 1992, 267, 16396.
- (287) Di Jeso, B.; Pereira, R.; Consiglio, E.; Formisano, S.; Satrustegui, J.; Sandoval, I. V. Eur. J. Biochem. 1998, 252, 583.
- (288) Ivessa, N. E.; De Lemos-Chiarandini, C.; Gravotta, D.; Sabatini, D. D.; Kreibich, G. J. Biol. Chem. 1995, 270, 25960.
- (289) Itin, C.; Roche, A. C.; Monsigny, M.; Hauri, H. P. Mol. Biol. Cell 1996, 7, 483.
- (290) Dahms, N. M.; Hancock, M. K. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2002, 1572, 317.
- (291) Porat, A.; Elazar, Z. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275, 29233.
- (292) Ahluwalia, J. P.; Topp, J. D.; Weirather, K.; Zimmerman, M.; Stamnes, M. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 34148.
- (293) Hay, J. C. EMBO Rep. 2007, 8, 236.
- (294) Garcia, A. G.; Garcia-De-Diego, A. M.; Gandia, L.; Borges, R.; Garcia-Sancho, J. *Physiol. Rev.* **2006**, *86*, 1093.
- (295) Camacho, M.; Machado, J. D.; Alvarez, J.; Borges, R. J. Biol. Chem. 2008, 283, 22383.
- (296) Uccelletti, D.; Farina, F.; Mancini, P.; Palleschi, C. J. Biotechnol. 2004, 109, 93.
- (297) Zhao, H. L.; Xue, C.; Wang, Y.; Yao, X. Q.; Liu, Z. M. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 2008, 81, 235.
- (298) Li, X.; Chanroj, S.; Wu, Z.; Romanowsky, S. M.; Harper, J. F.; Sze, H. *Plant Physiol.* **2008**, *147*, 1675.
- (299) Harmsen, M. M.; Bruyne, M. I.; Raue, H. A.; Maat, J. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 1996, 46, 365.
- (300) Sohn, Y. S.; Park, C. S.; Lee, S. B.; Ryu, D. D. J. Bacteriol. 1998, 180, 6736.
- (301) Qasba, P. K.; Ramakrishnan, B.; Boeggeman, E. Curr. Drug Targets 2008, 9, 292.
- (302) Shaper, N. L.; Charron, M.; Lo, N. W.; Shaper, J. H. J. Manmary Gland Biol. Neoplasia 1998, 3, 315.
- (303) Anderson, S. M.; Rudolph, M. C.; McManaman, J. L.; Neville, M. C. Breast Cancer Res. 2007, 9, 204.
- (304) Burgoyne, R. D.; Duncan, J. S. J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia 1998, 3, 275.
- (305) Duncan, J. S.; Wilkinson, M. C.; Burgoyne, R. D. Biochem. J. 2000, 350, 463.
- (306) Tibaldi, E.; Arrigoni, G.; Brunati, A. M.; James, P.; Pinna, L. A. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 2006, 63, 378.
- (307) Vegh, M.; Varro, A. Regul. Pept. 1997, 68, 37.
- (308) Lasa, M.; Marin, O.; Pinna, L. A. Eur. J. Biochem. 1997, 243, 719.
- (309) Duncan, J. S.; Burgoyne, R. D. Biochem. J. 1996, 317, 487.
- (310) West, D. W.; Clegg, R. A. Biochem. J. 1984, 219, 181.
- (311) Burgoyne, R. D.; Duncan, J. S.; Sudlow, A. W. Biochem. Soc. Symp. 1998, 63, 91.
- (312) Neville, M. C. J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia 2005, 10, 119.
- (313) Greger, R.; Windhorst, U. Comprehensive Human Physiology: From
- Cellular Mechanisms to Integration; Springer-Verlag: Berlin, 1996.
- (314) Shennan, D. B.; Peaker, M. *Physiol. Rev.* **2000**, *80*, 925.
- (315) Reinhardt, T. A.; Filoteo, A. G.; Penniston, J. T.; Horst, R. L. Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol. 2000, 279, C1595.
- (316) Reinhardt, T. A.; Lippolis, J. D.; Shull, G. E.; Horst, R. L. J. Biol. Chem. 2004, 279, 42369.
- (317) Park, M. K.; Petersen, O. H.; Tepikin, A. V. EMBO J. 2000, 19, 5729.
- (318) Mogami, H.; Nakano, K.; Tepikin, A. V.; Petersen, O. H. Cell 1997, 88, 49.
- (319) Choi, Y. M.; Kim, S. H.; Chung, S.; Uhm, D. Y.; Park, M. K. *J. Neurosci.* **2006**, *26*, 12127.

- (320) Petersen, O. H.; Tepikin, A.; Park, M. K. Trends Neurosci. 2001, 24, 271.
- (321) Verkhratsky, A.; Petersen, O. H. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 2002, 447, 141. (322) Reinhardt, T. A.; Horst, R. L. Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol. 1999,
- 276, C796. (323) VanHouten, J. N.; Wysolmerski, J. J. J. Mammary Gland Biol.
- Neoplasia 2007, 12, 223. (324) Cameron, I. L.; Sparks, R. L.; Seelig, L. L., Jr. Cytobios 1980, 27,
- (325) Lee, W. J.; Monteith, G. R.; Roberts-Thomson, S. J. *Biochim.*
- *Biophys. Acta* **2006**, *1765*, 235. (326) Anantamongkol, U.; Takemura, H.; Suthiphongchai, T.; Krishnamra,
- N.; Horio, Y. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2007, 352, 537.
- (327) Prapong, S.; Reinhardt, T. A.; Goff, J. P.; Horst, R. L. J. Dairy Sci. 2005, 88, 1741.
- (328) Reinhardt, T. A.; Lippolis, J. D. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2008, 378, 99.
- (329) Alarcon, C. M.; Heitman, J.; Cardenas, M. E. Mol. Biol. Cell 1999, 10, 2531.
- (330) Devasahayam, G.; Burke, D. J.; Sturgill, T. W. *Genetics* **2007**, *177*, 231.
- (331) Devasahayam, G.; Ritz, D.; Helliwell, S. B.; Burke, D. J.; Sturgill, T. W. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2006, 103, 17840.
- (332) Sturgill, T. W.; Cohen, A.; Diefenbacher, M.; Trautwein, M.; Martin, D. E.; Hall, M. N. *Eukaryot. Cell* **2008**, *7*, 1819.
- (333) Endo, M. Physiol. Rev. 1977, 57, 71.
- (334) Fabiato, A.; Fabiato, F. Circ. Res. 1977, 40, 119.
- (335) Sitsapesan, R.; Williams, A. J. J. Membr. Biol. 1994, 137, 215.
- (336) Sitsapesan, R.; Williams, A. J. J. Membr. Biol. 1997, 159, 179.
- (337) Lukyanenko, V.; Gyorke, I.; Gyorke, S. Pflugers Arch. 1996, 432, 1047.
- (338) Gyorke, S.; Gyorke, I.; Lukyanenko, V.; Terentyev, D.; Viatchenko-Karpinski, S.; Wiesner, T. F. Front. Biosci. 2002, 7, d1454.
- (339) Gyorke, I.; Gyorke, S. Biophys. J. 1998, 75, 2801.
- (340) Ching, L. L.; Williams, A. J.; Sitsapesan, R. Circ. Res. 2000, 87, 201.
- (341) Gyorke, I.; Hester, N.; Jones, L. R.; Gyorke, S. *Biophys. J.* 2004, 86, 2121.
- (342) Beard, N. A.; Sakowska, M. M.; Dulhunty, A. F.; Laver, D. R. *Biophys. J.* 2002, 82, 310.
- (343) Herrmann-Frank, A.; Lehmann-Horn, F. *Pflugers Arch.* **1996**, *432*, 155.
- (344) Tripathy, A.; Meissner, G. Biophys. J. 1996, 70, 2600.
- (345) Xu, L.; Meissner, G. Biophys. J. 1998, 75, 2302.
- (346) Terentyev, D.; Viatchenko-Karpinski, S.; Valdivia, H. H.; Escobar, A. L.; Gyorke, S. *Circ. Res.* **2002**, *91*, 414.
- (347) Irvine, R. F. FEBS Lett. 1990, 263, 5.
- (348) Nunn, D. L.; Taylor, C. W. Mol. Pharmacol. 1992, 41, 115.
- (349) Missiaen, L.; De Smedt, H.; Droogmans, G.; Casteels, R. *Nature* **1992**, *357*, 599.
- (350) Caroppo, R.; Colella, M.; Colasuonno, A.; DeLuisi, A.; Debellis, L.; Curci, S.; Hofer, A. M. J. Biol. Chem. 2003, 278, 39503.
- (351) Tanimura, A.; Turner, R. J. J. Cell Biol. 1996, 132, 607.
- (352) Combettes, L.; Claret, M.; Champeil, P. FEBS Lett. 1992, 301, 287.
- (353) Hirose, K.; Iino, M. Nature 1994, 372, 791.
- (354) Shuttleworth, T. J. J. Biol. Chem. 1992, 267, 3573.
- (355) Parys, J. B.; Missiaen, L.; De Smedt, H.; Casteels, R. J. Biol. Chem. 1993, 268, 25206.
- (356) Combettes, L.; Cheek, T. R.; Taylor, C. W. EMBO J. 1996, 15, 2086.
- (357) Barrero, M. J.; Montero, M.; Alvarez, J. J. Biol. Chem. 1997, 272, 27694.
- (358) Beecroft, M. D.; Taylor, C. W. Biochem. J. 1997, 326, 215.
- (359) Bezprozvanny, I.; Ehrlich, B. E. J. Gen. Physiol. 1994, 104, 821.
- (360) Thrower, E. C.; Mobasheri, H.; Dargan, S.; Marius, P.; Lea, E. J.; Dawson, A. P. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275, 36049.
- (361) Iino, M.; Endo, M. Nature 1992, 360, 76.
- (362) Horne, J. H.; Meyer, T. Biochemistry 1995, 34, 12738.
- (363) McCarron, J. G.; Chalmers, S.; Muir, T. C. J. Cell Sci. 2008, 121, 86.
- (364) Sienaert, I.; De Smedt, H.; Parys, J. B.; Missiaen, L.; Vanlingen, S.; Sipma, H.; Casteels, R. J. Biol. Chem. 1996, 271, 27005.
- (365) Higo, T.; Hattori, M.; Nakamura, T.; Natsume, T.; Michikawa, T.; Mikoshiba, K. Cell 2005, 120, 85.
- (366) Putney, J. W., Jr. Cell Calcium 1986, 7, 1.
- (367) Liou, J.; Kim, M. L.; Heo, W. D.; Jones, J. T.; Myers, J. W.; Ferrell, J. E., Jr.; Meyer, T. Curr. Biol. 2005, 15, 1235.
- (368) Roos, J.; DiGregorio, P. J.; Yeromin, A. V.; Ohlsen, K.; Lioudyno, M.; Zhang, S.; Safrina, O.; Kozak, J. A.; Wagner, S. L.; Cahalan, M. D.; Veliçelebi, G.; Stauderman, K. A. J. Cell. Biol. 2005, 169, 435.
- (369) Yeromin, A. V.; Zhang, S. L.; Jiang, W.; Yu, Y.; Safrina, O.; Cahalan, M. D. Nature 2006, 443, 226.

Intracellular Ca²⁺- and Mn²⁺-Transport ATPases

- (370) Prakriya, M.; Feske, S.; Gwack, Y.; Srikanth, S.; Rao, A.; Hogan, P. G. *Nature* **2006**, *443*, 230.
- (371) Putney, J. W., Jr. Cell Calcium 2007, 42, 103.
- (372) Hewavitharana, T.; Deng, X.; Soboloff, J.; Gill, D. L. Cell Calcium 2007, 42, 173.
- (373) Dickerson, R. N. Nutrition 2001, 17, 689.
- (374) Lee, J. W. Arch. Neurol. 2000, 57, 597.
- (375) Olanow, C. W. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 2004, 1012, 209.
- (376) Roels, H.; Lauwerys, R.; Buchet, J. P.; Genet, P.; Sarhan, M. J.; Hanotiau, I.; de Fays, M.; Bernard, A.; Stanescu, D. Am. J. Ind. Med 1987, 11, 307.
- (377) Ferraz, H. B.; Bertolucci, P. H.; Pereira, J. S.; Lima, J. G.; Andrade, L. A. Neurology 1988, 38, 550.
- (378) Sierra, P.; Loranger, S.; Kennedy, G.; Zayed, J. Am. Ind. Hyg. Assoc. J. 1995, 56, 713.
- (379) Krieger, D.; Krieger, S.; Jansen, O.; Gass, P.; Theilmann, L.; Lichtnecker, H. Lancet 1995, 346, 270.
- (380) Ono, J.; Harada, K.; Kodaka, R.; Sakurai, K.; Tajiri, H.; Takagi, Y.; Nagai, T.; Harada, T.; Nihei, A.; Okada, A. J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 1995, 19, 310.
- (381) Harris, W. R.; Chen, Y. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1994, 54, 1.
- (382) Reaney, S. H.; Kwik-Uribe, C. L.; Smith, D. R. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 2002, 15, 1119.
- (383) Narita, K.; Kawasaki, F.; Kita, H. Brain Res. 1990, 510, 289.
- (384) Frame, M. D.; Milanick, M. A. Am. J. Physiol. 1991, 261, C467.
- (385) Gunshin, H.; Mackenzie, B.; Berger, U. V.; Gunshin, Y.; Romero, M. F.; Boron, W. F.; Nussberger, S.; Gollan, J. L.; Hediger, M. A. *Nature* 1997, 388, 482.
- (386) Aschner, M.; Gannon, M. Brain Res. Bull. 1994, 33, 345.
- (387) Garcia, S. J.; Gellein, K.; Syversen, T.; Aschner, M. Toxicol. Sci. 2006, 92, 516.
- (388) Sepulveda, M. R.; Marcos, D.; Berrocal, M.; Raeymaekers, L.; Mata, A. M.; Wuytack, F. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* **2008**, *38*, 461.
- (389) Culotta, V. C.; Yang, M.; Hall, M. D. Eukaryot. Cell 2005, 4, 1159.
- (390) Zhang, S.; Fu, J.; Zhou, Z. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 2005, 202, 13.
- (391) Ferenci, P. Metab. Brain Dis. 2004, 19, 229.
- (392) Tuschl, K.; Mills, P. B.; Parsons, H.; Malone, M.; Fowler, D.; Bitner-Glindzicz, M.; Clayton, P. T. J. Inherited Metab. Dis. 2008, 31, 151.
- (393) Nelson, K.; Golnick, J.; Korn, T.; Angle, C. Br. J. Ind. Med. **1993**, 50, 510.
- (394) Lin, Y. J.; Koretsky, A. P. Magn. Reson. Med. 1997, 38, 378.
- (395) Towler, M. C.; Prescott, A. R.; James, J.; Lucocq, J. M.; Ponnambalam, S. *Exp. Cell Res.* 2000, 259, 167.
- (396) Hirata, Y. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 2002, 24, 639.
- (397) Zheng, W.; Zhao, Q.; Slavkovich, V.; Aschner, M.; Graziano, J. H. Brain Res. 1999, 833, 125.
- (398) Li, G. J.; Zhang, L. L.; Lu, L.; Wu, P.; Zheng, W. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 2004, 46, 241.
- (399) Drapeau, P.; Nachshen, D. A. J. Physiol. 1984, 348, 493.
- (400) Wedler, F. C.; Denman, R. B. *Curr. Top. Cell. Regul.* **1984**, *24*, 153. (401) Akai, F.; Maeda, M.; Suzuki, K.; Inagaki, S.; Takagi, H.; Taniguchi,
- N. Neurosci. Lett. **1990**, 115, 19.
- (402) Aschner, M. Environ. Res. 1999, 80, 105.
- (403) Huang, C. C.; Chu, N. S.; Lu, C. S.; Chen, R. S.; Calne, D. B. Neurology 1998, 50, 698.
- (404) Crossgrove, J.; Zheng, W. NMR Biomed. 2004, 17, 544.
- (405) Hesketh, S.; Sassoon, J.; Knight, R.; Hopkins, J.; Brown, D. R. J. Anim. Sci. 2007, 85, 1596.

- (406) Brown, D. R.; Hafiz, F.; Glasssmith, L. L.; Wong, B. S.; Jones, I. M.; Clive, C.; Haswell, S. J. *EMBO J.* **2000**, *19*, 1180.
- (407) Mattson, M. P.; LaFerla, F. M.; Chan, S. L.; Leissring, M. A.; Shepel, P. N.; Geiger, J. D. *Trends Neurosci.* **2000**, *23*, 222.
- (408) Squier, T. C.; Bigelow, D. J. Front. Biosci. 2000, 5, D504.
- (409) Plessers, L.; Eggermont, J. A.; Wuytack, F.; Casteels, R. J. Neurosci. 1991, 11, 650.
- (410) Baba-Aissa, F.; Raeymaekers, L.; Wuytack, F.; De Greef, C.; Missiaen, L.; Casteels, R. Brain Res. 1996, 743, 141.
- (411) Sepulveda, M. R.; Hidalgo-Sanchez, M.; Mata, A. M. Eur. J. Neurosci. 2004, 19, 542.
- (412) Sepulveda, M. R.; Hidalgo-Sanchez, M.; Mata, A. M. J. Neurochem. 2005, 95, 673.
- (413) Michelangeli, F.; Di Virgilio, F.; Villa, A.; Podini, P.; Meldolesi, J.; Pozzan, T. *Biochem. J.* **1991**, *275*, 555.
- (414) Campbell, A. M.; Wuytack, F.; Fambrough, D. M. Brain Res. 1993, 605, 67.
- (415) Baba-Aissa, F.; Raeymaekers, L.; Wuytack, F.; Dode, L.; Casteels, R. Mol. Chem. Neuropathol. 1998, 33, 199.
- (416) Baba-Aissa, F.; Raeymaekers, L.; Wuytack, F.; Callewaert, G.; Dode, L.; Missiaen, L.; Casteels, R. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 1996, 41, 169.
- (417) Murin, R.; Verleysdonk, S.; Raeymaekers, L.; Kaplan, P.; Lehotsky, J. Cell. Mol. Neurobiol. 2006, 26, 1355.
- (418) Murphy, V. A.; Smith, Q. R.; Rapoport, S. I. Brain Res. 1989, 484, 65.
- (419) Sabatini, B. L.; Maravall, M.; Svoboda, K. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 2001, 11, 349.
- (420) Oda, K. J. Biol. Chem. 1992, 267, 17465.
- (421) Ghosh, A.; Greenberg, M. E. Science 1995, 268, 239.
- (422) Hurley, L. S. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London Ser. B* **1981**, *294*, 145. (423) Green, K. N.; Demuro, A.; Akbari, Y.; Hitt, B. D.; Smith, I. F.; Parker,
- I.; LaFerla, F. M. J. Cell Biol. 2008, 181, 1107.
- (424) Steiner, D. F. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 1998, 2, 31.
- (425) LaFerla, F. M. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 2002, 3, 862.
- (426) Gonatas, N. K.; Stieber, A.; Gonatas, J. O. J. Neurol. Sci. 2006, 246, 21.
- (427) Jacobsen, N. J.; Lyons, I.; Hoogendoorn, B.; Burge, S.; Kwok, P. Y.; O'Donovan, M. C.; Craddock, N.; Owen, M. J. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **1999**, *8*, 1631.
- (428) Hu, Z.; Zeng, L.; Huang, Z.; Zhang, J.; Li, T. Neurochem. Res. 2007, 32, 1265.
- (429) Green, K. N.; LaFerla, F. M. Neuron 2008, 59, 190.
- (430) Brody, I. A. N. Engl. J. Med 1969, 281, 187.
- (431) Odermatt, A.; Barton, K.; Khanna, V. K.; Mathieu, J.; Escolar, D.; Kuntzer, T.; Karpati, G.; MacLennan, D. H. *Hum. Genet.* 2000, 106, 482.
- (432) MacLennan, D. H. Eur. J. Biochem. 2000, 267, 5291.
- (433) Hailey, H. W.; Hailey, H. E. Arch. Dermatol. Syphilol. **1939**, *39*, 679.
- (434) Lytton, J.; Westlin, M.; Hanley, M. R. J. Biol. Chem. 1991, 266, 17067.
- (435) Dereeper, A.; Guignon, V.; Blanc, G.; Audic, S.; Buffet, S.; Chevenet, F.; Dufayard, J. F.; Guindon, S.; Lefort, V.; Lescot, M.; Claverie, J. M.; Gascuel, O. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2008**, *36*, W465.

CR900013M